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Banking is changing
In an increasingly digital society, with a multitude of available options, we
understand the importance of flexibility. We therefore work hard to provide a
high-quality, convenient and flexible customer experience.
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Komplett Bank in brief

Komplett Bank in brief
Komplett Bank is a specialised consumer finance company with an
ambition for long-term value creation, offering a variety of financing
solutions to creditworthy customers in the Nordic region. In an increasingly
digital market, Komplett Bank is focused on creating value for its customers
by offering flexible, convenient financing solutions, and efficient, customer
friendly processes. Komplett Bank is pursuing a growth strategy based on
geographical and product-wise diversification and expansion. Its product
portfolio comprises consumer loans, credit cards, point-of-sales finance
solutions and high-yield deposit accounts.

Consumer loans

Credit cards

76,000 customers
NOK 7,190 million net loans

55,000 customers
NOK 801 million net loans

Point-of-sales finance

Deposit accounts

115,000 customers
NOK 505 million net loans

24,000 customers
NOK 8,520 million deposits
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Digital and scalable
organisation headquartered
in Lysaker, outside Oslo

Sweden
Finland
Norway

Komplett Bank‘s strategy is founded on a digital,
scalable, efficient and low-cost operating model
combined with strong risk control. This strategy
is enabled by maintaining a centralised corporate
structure and fully digital operations utilizing
modern technology.Komplett Bank’s consumer
financing products are offered to customers in
Norway, Sweden and Finland. In addition, the Bank
offers high-yield deposits accounts in Norway,
Sweden and Germany.

Lysaker

Germany

Komplett Bank’s strategic
roadmap for geographical and
product-wise expansion

Consumer loans

Credit cards

Point-of-sales finance

Deposit accounts

Norway

Q1
2014

Q4
2015

Q3
2017

Q1
2014

Finland

Q1
2017

Q2
2019

TBD

TBD

Sweden

Q1
2018

Q1
2019

Q2
2018

Q1
2020

EU

TBD

TBD

TBD

Q4 2018
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2019 in numbers

2019 in numbers
At the end of 2019, Komplett Bank had net loans of NOK 8.5 billion
and approximately 270,000 customers spread across its products
and markets. Komplett Bank is well capitalised with a CET1 ratio of
21.2% as of 31 December 2019.

Net loans (NOK million)
9,000
8,000

Loans Sweden

7,000

Point-of-sales finance

6,000
5,000

Loans Finland

4,000
3,000

Credit cards

2,000
1,000
0

Loans Norway
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Net loans grew by 8% to reach NOK 8.5 billion in 2019.

Net loan distribution
by product

Customer distribution
by product
Loans Norway 16%

Loans Norway 44%

NOK

8.5
billion

Loans Finland 9%

Loans Finland 29%
Loans Sweden 12%
Credit cards 9%
Point-of-sales finance 6%

270,000

Loans Sweden 3%
Credit cards 20%
Point-of-sales finance 43%
Deposits 9%
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Net loan growth

Net loan (NOK)

8%

8.5 bn

Return on equity

CET1 ratio

12%

21.2%

Key figures
Figures in NOK million

2019

2018

2017

2016

Accounts in profit or loss
Net interest income
Total income
Operational expenses
Losses on loans
Profit after tax
Earnings per share (NOK)

1,115
1,176
-442
-454
203
1.11

959
1,031
-339
-249
331
1.91

670
709
-222
-119
274
1.60

371
391
-129
-86
128
0.87

Accounts in the balance sheet
Net loans to customers
Deposits from and debt to customers
Total equity

8,496
8,520
1,850

7,844
7,366
1,620

5,461
4,330
1,402

3,322
3,313
718

Other key figures
CET1%
Total capital %
Cost percentage
Loss percentage
Return on equity (ROE)
Price per share (NOK)
Number of shares
Market cap

21.2%
22.5%
30.5%
5.6%
12.0%
12.5
184
2,298

20.0%
21.4%
22.5%
3.7%
22.6%
12.8
173
2,202

25.7%
27.8%
20.1%
2.7%
27.0%
19.0
171
3,256

20.2%
23.6%
20.4%
3.5%
25.5%
16.0
148
2,374
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Letter from the CEO

Letter from the CEO
In 2019, Komplett Bank has successfully adapted to substantial market
changes and a fast-changing regulatory environment, and we remain wellcapitalised and highly diversified. In 2020, we will continue to improve and
further strengthen our position in the Nordic consumer finance market.

Komplett Bank’s goal is to become a leading consumer finance bank
in the Nordic region. We provide essential and valuable flexibility to
our customers. We help our customers refinance and consolidate

existing debt, provide short-term financing in times when expenses
are escalating, and we offer high-yield savings accounts.

Our aim is to help our customers take control of their finances.
We remain dedicated to our strategic roadmap for geographical and

On October 1, we delivered the final report to the FSA. I am very

satisfied with how we tackled our shortcomings and closed the gaps.
In addition, Komplett Bank underwent significant organisational

changes throughout the year, which were necessary to adapt and
to improve in a changing environment. We strengthened several
aspects of our business, including organisational oversight,
compliance and credit risk management.

product-wise expansion. In the first half of 2019, we launched credit

I am very proud of the hard work put in by our dedicated employ-

launched deposit accounts in Sweden. Consumer lending growth

strated that Komplett Bank is capable of rapidly adjusting to and

cards in both Sweden and Finland and in the beginning of 2020 we
in both Finland and Sweden continued at stable, good rates. As a
result, we significantly improved our portfolio diversification.

By the end of the year we had net loans of NOK 8.5 billion and

270,000 customers spread across our products and markets.
At the same time, a challenging regulatory regime and substantial
market changes came to define the market for consumer lending
in Norway. The challenging situation put significant strain on our
operations, and we ended the year with higher costs, increased
losses on loans and disappointing profitability.

During the year, Komplett Bank received a report from the FSA in

which our anti-money laundering (AML) procedures were deemed

insufficient. The FSA also levied an administrative fee on Komplett
Bank related to these findings.

At Komplett Bank, we always strive to comply with all applicable
rules and regulations, and we place tremendous importance

on our shared responsibility in preventing financial crime. I was
therefore very displeased when I read the report. However, we
quickly and effectively addressed the FSA’s remarks.

ees during the year, and I really believe that in 2019 we demonovercoming new and changing conditions.

Komplett Bank was founded with the aim of offering attractive,

flexible and digital financing solutions to creditworthy customers

while maintaining a lean and cost-efficient organisation. By adhering to this strategy, Komplett Bank has built a strong platform for
responsible growth and value creation.

Today, Komplett Bank remains well capitalised, highly diversified and
in a strong competitive position in the attractive Nordic markets.

In 2020, we will remain relentlessly focused on risk management
and profitability. We will work to improve customer experience,

further strengthen our credit risk management procedures and
enhance our operational performance.

I am confident that we will end 2020 with an even stronger

platform for responsible growth and long-term value creation for
all our stakeholders.
Jan Olov Haglund,

Chief Executive Officer
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“

Today, Komplett Bank remains well
capitalised, highly diversified and in
a strong competitive position in the
attractive Nordic markets.
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Shareholder information

Shareholder information
Komplett Bank strives to ensure non-discriminatory distribution
of information in its communication with the financial markets
to develop end retain investor confidence. Furthermore, it is the
intention of Komplett Bank to ensure that shareholders, investors
and analysts have sufficient information about the Bank to assess
the fair and proper value of its shares.

Upon publication, all investor information, such as annual- and

Voting rights

made available on the Bank’s website.

free transferability. Shareholders’ voting rights at the general

interim reports, presentations and the financial calendar, shall be

For additional information regarding the Bank’s share, reference
is made to note 6 of the annual financial statements as well as

Komplett Bank’s investor relations website; ir.komplettbank.com.

The share

Komplett Bank’s shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange
with the ticker symbol KOMP. As of 31 December 2019, there

were 184,119,728 shares issued with a par value of NOK 1.0. Not
counting options exercised as part of the Bank’s share option

Komplett Bank has one share class with equal voting rights and
meeting correspond to the number of shares they own and have

registered with the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS)
at the time of the meeting.

Dividend policy

The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank has adopted a dividend

policy to pay out excess capital which is not deployed for growth
purposes in accordance with the Bank’s strategy. As of 31

December 2019, Komplett Bank has not yet paid dividends.

programme or subscription rights, the latest share issue was in

Shareholders

listing on the Oslo Stock Exchange in November 2017.

the 10 largest shareholders held 53.6% of the Bank’s shares. At

relation to Komplett Bank’s initial public offering and subsequent

At the end of 2019, the market value of Komplett Bank was NOK 2.3
billion, up from NOK 2.2 billion at the end of 2019. This equals 1.2

times the book value of the Bank’s equity as of 31 December 2019.
The share price as of 31 December 2019 was NOK 12.48,

compared to NOK 12.60 at the end of 2018, which corresponds to
a return of -0.95% for the year. The highest recorded price for the
share during the year was NOK 13.42 per share in February, while

At the end of 2019, Komplett Bank had 2,945 shareholders and
the end of 2019, 143,647,254 shares were held by Norwegian

investors and 40,472,474 shares were held by foreign investors,
corresponding to a total foreign ownership of 22.0%.

Canica Invest is Komplett Bank’s largest shareholder with 35.7

million shares, equivalent to 19.4% ownership, as of 31 December
2019. Canica Invest is also the largest owner of Komplett Bank’s
commercial and strategic partner, Komplett Group.

the lowest recorded price was NOK 8.63 per share in August 2019.

Several employees of Komplett Bank own shares and share

Throughout 2019, Komplett Bank’s shares were traded on 249

the ownership of primary insiders of Komplett Bank.

out of 251 trading days at the Oslo Stock Exchange. An average

305,000 shares were traded per day, which is a total of 75.9 million
shares for the full year. This corresponds to a turnover of 42% of
the total number of shares issued.

options in Komplett Bank. Please see note 11 for details regarding

Komplett Bank Annual Report 2019

Relative share performance
NOK
16
15
14
13
12
11
10
9
8
31 Dec 18

31 Jan 19

28 Feb 19

29 Mar 19

Komplett Bank

30 Apr 19

31 May 19

28 Jun 19

31 Jul 19

30 Aug 19

30 Sep 19

31 Oct 19

29 Nov 19

31 Dec 19

Oslo Stock Exchange benchmark index (rebased = Komplett Bank at 31 December 2018)

Geographical distribution of
shareholders as of 31 December 2019

Largest shareholders as of
31 December 2019

Number of shares
(thousands)

Norway 78%

Canica Invest AS
State Street Bank and Trust Comp
Alfab Holding AS
DNB Markets Aksjehandel/Analyse
UBS AG
Macama AS
Norda ASA
Sanden AS
SEB Prime Solutions Sissener
Canopus
OM Holding AS
Sum topp 10

USA 10%
United Kingdom 5%
Luxembourg 4%
Other 3%

Ownership
(%)

35,747
15,023
10,971

19.4
8.2
6.0

8,817

4,8

5,206
4,913
4,765
4,706

2.8
2.7
2.6
2.6

4,424

2.4

4,069
98,675,635

2.2
53.6

Analysts
Below is an overview of investment banks with active coverage of Komplett Bank as of 31 December 2019, including the name and

contact information of the analysts. Which banks and analysts that have active coverage of Komplett Bank may change at any given time.
For an updated list, please visit our investor relations webpage; ir.komplettbank.com.
Company

Analyst

Phone

Email address

ABG Sundal Collier

Jan Erik Gjerland

+47 22 01 61 16

jan.gjerland@abgsc.no

Pareto Securities

Vegard Toverud

+47 22 87 88 24

vegard.toverud@paretosec.com

SEB

Truls Langmo Røysland

+47 95 06 40 66

truls.roysland@seb.no

SpareBank 1 Markets

Odd Weidel

+47 24 14 74 81

odd.weidel@sb1markets.no
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Corporate governance
Komplett Bank ASA’s management and Board of Directors con-

Good corporate governance is a key area for Komplett Bank’s

rate governance pursuant to Section 3-3(b) of the Accounting Act

adopted guidelines, which stipulate that the Bank must operate

duct an annual review of principles and practices relating to corpoand the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance of
17 October 2018 (‘NAES’). An account is given below of Komplett
Bank’s principles regarding corporate governance.

Board of Directors. Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors have

with high standards of ethics and integrity. A clear organisational

structure has been established with clearly defined responsibilities
which help to facilitate the holistic management of the Bank.

Section 3-3(b) of the Accounting Act

Corporate governance within Komplett Bank is also aimed at

second paragraph of the Accounting Act is described below. The

upholding the Bank’s values and ethical guidelines. Komplett Bank’s

Komplett Bank’s corporate governance pursuant to Section 3-3(b)
numbering below follows the numbering used in the section.

1. The company’s corporate governance is based on Norwegian
law and the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance of 17 October 2018 (NAES).

2. NAES is available at www.nues.no.

3. Deviations from NAES are referred to under “Norwegian Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance” below.

4. A description of the key aspects of the Bank’s internal control

and risk management systems relating to the financial reporting
process is presented in section 10 under “Norwegian Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance” below.

5. Komplett Bank’s articles of association do not contain any

provisions which deviate from Chapter 5 of the Public Limited
Companies Act.

6. The composition of company bodies and the key aspects of
applicable instructions and guidelines for these bodies are

described in sections 6, 7, 8 and 9 under “Norwegian Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance” below.

7. Provisions in the articles of association which govern the appoint-

ment and replacement of Directors are explained in section 8 under
“Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance” below.

8. Provisions in the articles of association and powers that give the
Board of Directors the right to approve the buy-back or issuing

of company shares are explained in section 3 under “Norwegian
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance” below

Norwegian Code of Practice for
Corporate Governance

An account is given below of Komplett Bank’s compliance with the

fifteen points of NAES, as well as deviations from the Code of Practice.

1. Corporate governance
The Bank strives to maintain high standards of corporate governance, which it considers to be an important prerequisite for value
creation. There are no significant non-conformities between NAES
and its implementation in Komplett Bank.

achieving the Bank’s strategic objectives, while at the same time

ethical guidelines establish a high standard for the Bank’s operations
and provide a framework for the conduct and attitudes of the Board

of Directors, the management and the employees in accordance with
the applicable codes of conduct and rules at all times.

The Bank’s other guidelines and routines are based on the view that
good corporate governance depends on transparency and trust-

based cooperation between the Bank’s shareholders, the Board of
Directors, the management, employees, public authorities, other

stakeholders and society at large. The Board of Directors believes

that transparency and trust-based cooperation will help to increase
confidence in the Bank’s operations, which is a goal in the formulation and implementation of the Bank’s corporate governance.

2. Operations
Within the framework of the legislation that is in force at any one
time, Komplett Bank may carry out all transactions and services
that are common or natural for banks to perform.
The Bank’s articles of association are available on Komplett Bank’s
website: www.komplettbank.no.

Komplett Bank primarily offers unsecured financing to private individuals who are eligible, subject to a credit assessment. Komplett

Bank also follows a growth strategy based on geographical distribution in the Nordic region and has launched its loan products aimed
at the private market in Norway, Finland and Sweden. Credit cards
are offered in Norway, Finland and Sweden. The Bank also offers
point-of-sale (POS) financing products and expects to generate
increased volumes from this business in Norway and Sweden.

3. Company capital and dividends
As of 31 December 2019, Komplett Bank had equity of NOK
1,849.5 million. According to the established calculation rules for
capital adequacy for financial enterprises, as of 31 December
2019, Komplett Bank had a combined capital adequacy ratio of
22.5%, while the core tier one capital adequacy ratio was 21.2%.

Komplett Bank Annual Report 2019

Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors continually assesses the

of such a member, is considered, anyone who is not eligible to

Bank’s objectives, strategies and the desired risk profile. Komplett

declare their ineligibility and refrain from all further involvement in

Bank’s capital situation in light of regulatory requirements, the

Bank aims to have a combined capital adequacy ratio of 22.8%,

including a core tier one capital adequacy capital ratio of 19.3%, in

participate in the processing of the case or the decision must

the case. The same follows from the Bank’s ethical guidelines.

order to provide scope to fulfil the Bank’s financial strategies.

Canica Invest AS is the largest shareholder with a 19.4% stake.

The 2019 ordinary general meeting authorised the Board of

leading e-commerce group in the Nordic region. Komplett Bank

Directors to increase the Bank’s share capital by up to NOK

6,000,000 in connection with the Bank’s option scheme for

employees. This authority has been partially utilised and will

remain in force until the Bank’s 2020 ordinary general meeting.

This company owns a majority of the Komplett Group, which is the
has established a long-term commercial and strategic partnership
with the Komplett Group and aims to develop financial products
and services that build on this partnership.

The Board of Directors recommends that the general meeting

Komplett Bank has also prepared guidelines for transactions with

until the 2021 ordinary general meeting. See the notice of the

between Komplett AS and Komplett Bank ASA. The agreement cov-

grants authority for NOK 6,000,000, which will remain valid through
2020 ordinary general meeting.

The Bank is pursuing a product and geographical expansion strategy.
Surplus capital not reserved for growth purposes will be distributed to shareholders in the form of dividends.

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with associates
Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors and management emphasise
that all shares in the Bank must be treated equally and have the
same scope to exert influence. Komplett Bank has one class of
shares and each share gives entitlement to one vote. In the event
of increases in share capital, the Bank’s existing shareholders have
preferential rights. Any deviation from this preferential right must
be justified in the interests of the Bank and shareholders.
The Bank has adopted specific case handling rules regarding

notification and competence, where Board members and/or the

management have a personal or financial interest in a transaction

that the Bank enters into. Before a case that is of particular significance to a member of the Board or management, or an associate

associated parties. A cooperation agreement has been established

ers IP rights, marketing cooperation and other services. In 2017, the

agreement was renewed with a duration of five years. An agreement

has also been established concerning product cooperation relating to

the Bank’s credit cards with an associated loyalty scheme. In 2018, the
agreement was renewed with a duration of five years. An agreement

has been established with Komplett AS concerning the development

of a solution for integrating the Bank’s point-of-sale financing products
into the Komplett Group’s cash solutions. The Bank’s products have
been implemented with all their core functionality as part of the

point-of-sale solution for komplett.no and komplett.se. All transactions
with associated parties are executed subject to the same terms and

conditions as if they were entered into between independent parties.

5. Shares and negotiability
Komplett Bank’s shares are listed on Oslo Stock Exchange
with the ticker “KOMP” and are freely negotiable. The articles of
association do not contain any restrictions on sale.
6. General meeting
Shareholders exercise the supreme authority within the Bank
through Komplett Bank’s general meeting. According to the
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articles of association, the annual general meeting must be held
annually by the end of April.

The notice of the general meeting, a meeting registration form and a
proxy form will be made available on Komplett Bank’s website www.

komplettbank.no no later than 21 days prior to the general meeting.
Shareholders wishing to attend the general meeting must send
in the registration form or proxy form as stated in the meeting

notice. The notice explains the procedure for voting, including the
procedure for attending by proxy, and the right of shareholders to

present alternatives to the Board of Directors’ proposals under the
items considered by the general meeting.

According to Komplett Bank’s articles of association, the chair of

the Board declares the general meeting open and chairs the discussions until a chair for the meeting has been elected. Members of

the Board of Directors and the auditor are also summoned to the

general meeting. Members of the Board of Directors have a right to

Board of Directors shall collectively possess the expertise which, given
the Bank’s organisation and operations, is deemed necessary in order
to perform its duties, and at least one of its members must possess

qualifications in accounting or auditing. In accordance with the articles
of association, two of the Board of Directors’ elected members must

be employees of the Bank. Two personal deputies must be elected for
these members, with the right to attend and speak at Board meetings.
The general meeting elects the chair of the Board and a deputy

chair. Board members are elected for a term of two years at a time.
The majority of the shareholder-elected Board members are

independent of the senior management and significant business

relationships, and at least two of the shareholder-elected members
are independent of the Bank’s main shareholders.

The Board of Directors held 31 meetings in 2019. The Audit and
Risk committee held 15 meetings.

attend and speak at general meetings. The chair of the Board and

An overview of the Board of Directors’ members and chair is

absence, in which case a deputy must be appointed.

corporate-governance/Board-of-Directors/.

the CEO have a duty to attend unless there is a valid reason for their

The general meeting elects the Board’s shareholder-elected

members as well as members of the nomination committee. The
general meeting also elects the Bank’s auditor.

Decisions are made through a general majority, unless otherwise
provided for by law or statute.

7. Nomination committee
According to the articles of association, the Bank must have a
nomination committee, which must submit recommendations to
the ordinary general meeting concerning the election of members
to the Board of Directors and the nomination committee, along with
proposed fees for such members hereunder committees appointed
by the Board of Directors. The general meeting has adopted
specific guidelines regarding the work of the nomination committee.

available on Komplett Bank’s website https://ir.komplettbank.com/

9. The work of the Board of Directors
Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors are responsible for ensuring
that the operation is appropriately organised. The Board of
Directors adopts plans and budgets, as well as guidelines for
the Bank’s activities, and is responsible for ensuring that the
enterprise has appropriate systems in place for risk management
and internal control. The Board of Directors keeps itself informed
of the company’s financial position at all times by reviewing and
approving quarterly and annual reports, as well as monthly reviews
of Komplett Bank’s financial position and development.
The Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring and managing
the Bank’s overall risk. The Board of Directors must also regularly

consider whether the Bank’s governance and control arrangements
are appropriate for the risk level and the scope of the business.

The nomination committee must consist of three members, all

The Board of Directors have drawn up a set of instructions for the

members of the nomination committee must be independent of

ered by the Board, rules regarding case handling, etc. The Board’s

of whom are elected by the general meeting. The majority of the

the Board and the general management. Board members, the CEO
and other members of the Bank’s general management cannot be
elected as a member of the nomination committee.

The members of the nomination committee are elected for two
years unless the general meeting decides otherwise.

8. Board of Directors, composition and independence
The Bank’s Board of Directors must consist of five members, all of
whom are elected by the general meeting, as well as two employee representatives elected by and from amongst the Bank’s employees. The

Board’s responsibilities and duties, matters which must be considwork and competence is evaluated annually. The Board also establishes an annual plan for its work. The Board of Directors has also

established instructions for the general management of the Bank.
The Board of Directors decided on 11 February 2020 to appoint a

remuneration committee. The remuneration committee is responsible to prepare and propose the Komplett Bank’s remuneration

scheme for the Board of Directors and, in particular, for ensuring

that the scheme promotes and offers incentives for good management and control of the Bank’s risks, discourages high risk-taking

and helps to avoid conflicts of interest. The remuneration scheme

Komplett Bank Annual Report 2019

is formulated in accordance with the statutory and regulatory
requirements applicable to financial enterprises. Pursuant to

Section 6-16(a) of the Public Limited Companies Act, the Board of

Directors issues a statement concerning the setting of the salaries
of the CEO and other senior executives.

10. Risk management and internal control
Risk management and internal control form a key part of Komplett
Bank’s strategy and business. The Bank has implemented guidelines and procedures to ensure that risk management and internal
control are appropriate and adequate given the level of risk and
the scope of the business.
Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring
that the Bank has a capital adequacy which is appropriate in

accordance with the adopted risk profile and regulatory require-

ments. Risk management and internal control also form a key part
of the Bank’s assessment of the capital requirement in the short
and longer term, where risks associated with the business and
potential risks are included in the assessment.

guidelines and authorities for Komplett Bank’s management and
control of risks, including the risk profile.

The Board of Directors annually evaluates its work and competence
linked to the Bank’s risk management and internal control. The

Board of Directors also conducts an annual review of the Bank’s

risk management and internal control, including matters which are
reported or considered by the Board of Directors during the year.
Audit and Risk Committee

On 23 June 2018, the Board of Directors decided to set up an

independent audit and risk committee consisting of two external

Board members, with the General Manager, Chief Finance Officers

and Manager Risk Control & Compliance participating from the senior
management team. The committee conducts thorough evaluations
of the Bank’s risk management and internal control, as well as the

Bank’s financial position, including financial reporting. The audit and risk
committee is also responsible for ensuring that the Bank has an inde-

pendent and effective external and internal audit, as well as satisfactory
financial reporting in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Risk management and internal control in the Bank must ensure

Remuneration Committee

ensuring solid financial stability. This goal is achieved through:

Komplett Bank has appropriate guidelines and frameworks in

attainment of the Bank’s strategic goals, while at the same time

· A strong organisational culture characterised by a high
level of risk awareness.

· A good understanding of risks that generate revenue,

including the ability to manage within the risk profile defined
by the Board of Directors.

The remuneration committee is responsible for ensuring that
place for its remuneration scheme. Komplett Bank’s remuneration
scheme is intended to promote and provide incentives for good

management and control of the company’s risk. The remuneration
scheme must also be in accordance with the company’s overarching goals, risk tolerance and long-term interests.

· Striving for optimal capital utilisation within the adopted

Chief Executive Officer

· Avoiding unexpected events which could have a significant

Board of Directors’ adopted objectives, frameworks, guidelines and

business strategy.

adverse impact on the Bank’s financial position.

As Komplett Bank primarily secures earnings through credit exposure in the retail market for unsecured credit, it follows from the

guidelines that Komplett Bank’s risk appetite regarding credit risk
is higher than that regarding liquidity, market and operational risk.

The Bank has a clear organisational structure with clearly defined
roles and responsibilities for the Bank’s risk management and
internal control, as described below.
The company’s Board of Directors

Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring and
managing the Bank’s overall risk and for regularly assessing whether

the Bank’s governance and control arrangements are appropriate for
the risk level and the scope of the business. The Board of Directors
is also responsible for ensuring that the Bank’s capital adequacy

is sufficient in light of applicable regulatory requirements and the

risks associated with and the scope of the business that the Bank

carries on. The Board of Directors also establishes overarching goals,

The chief executive officer (CEO) is responsible for ensuring that the
authorities regarding the Bank’s risk management and internal con-

trol are addressed and, as part of this, ensure that senior executives

carry out and document the necessary internal control measures to
identify, measure, follow up and manage risk and provide the Board
of Directors with relevant and timely information that is of importance to the Bank’s risk management and internal control.

The CEO is also responsible for ensuring compliance with the Bank’s
policies and guidelines, as well as the Board of Directors’ decisions.
Management Team

Department managers report to the CEO and are responsible for
monitoring, controlling and reporting Komplett Bank’s compli-

ance with both internal and statutory requirements within their

respective areas of responsibility. The department managers are
responsible for carrying out and documenting risk assessments
within their own remit and for conducting an annual review of

these and ensuring that the organisation and delegation of work

within their department is appropriate, with the clear delegation of
control tasks and responsibilities.
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Chief Finance Officer

for the overarching management of the Bank’s liquidity risk level

having an overview of the Bank’s financial position at all times and

concerning changes to the Bank’s finance policy.

Komplett Bank’s chief finance officer (CFO) is responsible for

for preparing financial statements and reports, including financial

and for preparing recommendations for the Board of Directors

reports to government agencies, and conducting ongoing

Amongst other things, the committee is responsible for deter-

and financial risk. The CFO is also responsible for ensuring that

the Bank’s deposit products, as well as the follow-up of internal

governance and control regarding the Bank’s collective liquidity
accounting processes comply with applicable regulations.
Risk Control Function

The risk control function is responsible for ensuring that all significant

risks within the company are identified, measured and reported by the

relevant organisational units within Komplett Bank. The risk control func-

mining investment strategies and changes to conditions for

control and reporting. The committee is also responsible for

preparing matters for the Board of Directors regarding the Internal
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), including

adopting a stance regarding capital requirements, and the Bank’s
contingency plan regarding liquidity.

tion reports directly to the Board of Directors in cases where the Board

Finance Department

via the general reporting process, or highlights cases where identified

internal control of the following risks:

does not receive the necessary information concerning significant risks
risks either impact or could potentially impact negatively on the Bank.
The risk control function can be combined with other roles, but
must be independent of the Bank’s management and other

business areas within the Bank and cannot be disbanded without
the consent of the Board of Directors.
Internal Audit

In February 2019, the Board of Directors approved the establishment of an internal audit function as part of the work to ensure

good internal control and reveal risks. EY was elected as independent internal auditor. The role was established in Q2 2019, and

became effective from Q3 2019. The role of the internal audit unit

The finance department is responsible for risk management and

· counterparty risk outside the lending business
· market risk

· liquidity risk

· financial risk
The finance department is responsible for complying with risk

decisions set out in the Bank’s financial policy, which is adopted by

Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors. This policy establishes the framework for what the Board of Directors deems to be a satisfactory risk

profile, and is intended to promote appropriate risk management and
internal control, thereby ensuring regular reporting and monitoring.

is to ensure that the Bank is organised and operated in an appro-

Credit Committee

Circumstances that are deemed to be unsatisfactory must be

marketing Director comprise the Bank’s credit committee.

priate manner and in accordance with applicable requirements.

reported to the Board of Directors and the general manager. The
internal auditor conducts his audits in accordance with the audit

plan and instructions adopted annually by the Board of Directors.
Compliance Officer

The compliance officer reports to the CEO and the Board of

Directors, and is responsible for the performance of independent
controls, reporting and follow-up of the Bank’s compliance with
internal and regulatory requirements.

The CEO, CFO, credit and debt collection Director, IT and

The compliance officer has a right to attend, but not vote at,
meetings. The committee is chaired by the credit and debt

collection Director. Amongst other things, the credit committee

is responsible for submitting proposals to the Board of Directors
concerning changes to the Bank’s credit policy, determining the

delegation of credit authorities, and amending or establishing new
credit procedures and credit processes. The committee is also

responsible for following up internal control and submitting regular
reports regarding the Bank’s risk exposure and management.

The role of compliance officer can be combined with other roles,

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway

business areas within the Bank and cannot be disbanded without

Supervisory Authority of Norway. Amongst other things, the

but must be independent of the Bank’s management and other
the consent of the Board of Directors.
Asset-Liability Committee

The CEO, CFO, credit and debt collection Director, IT and marketing Director and product Director for credit cards comprise the

Komplett Bank is subject to the supervision of the Financial

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway reviews the Bank’s

annual and interim reports, as well as the Bank’s Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), where a stance is

adopted regarding the capital requirement and contingency plan.

Bank’s asset-liability committee. The committee is chaired by the

Audit

ability committee. The asset-liability committee is responsible

Bank is not permitted to give the auditor duties which could cast

CEO. The CFO is responsible for preparing matters for the asset-li-

Annual reports are audited by the Bank’s external auditor. Komplett
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doubt on the independence and objectivity of the auditor. The

The option scheme for senior executives complies with the rules for

section 15 “Auditor” below.

options issued by the Bank to senior executives in variable remuner-

auditor’s responsibilities and role are described in more detail in

Internal Audit

credit institutions’ remuneration schemes, which mean that share

ation are subject to ‘lock-up’ restrictions for a period of three years.

The internal audit unit is responsible for ensuring that the

The practising of the Bank’s remuneration scheme, including the

in accordance with applicable requirements. Circumstances that

Board of Directors.

company is organised and operated in an appropriate manner and
are deemed to be unsatisfactory must be reported to the Board of

option scheme, is reviewed and evaluated annually by the Bank’s

11. Remuneration to the Board
The Board of Directors’ remuneration is determined by the general
meeting based on a recommendation submitted by the nomination
committee. The Board of Directors’ remuneration is not dependent
on profits or market developments regarding the Bank’s shares.

13. Information and communication
Komplett Bank has adopted an investor relations policy to ensure
that the financial market and shareholders have sufficient information
about Komplett Bank to evaluate proper pricing. The Bank aims to
ensure that information is shared in a non-discriminative way when it
communicates with shareholders and analysts. Communication with
shareholders, investors and analysts is a priority for the Bank.

The Board of Directors’ remuneration is explained in more detail in

Investor information such as annual and interim reports, open

Directors and the general manager.

note 11 of the annual report.

12. Remuneration to senior executives
The Bank has prepared guidelines for remuneration to its senior
executives and other employees with responsibilities of significant
importance to the company’s risk exposure. The purpose of the
guidelines is to promote and offer incentives for good management and control of the Bank’s risks, discourage high risk-taking
and help avoid conflicts of interest.

presentations and financial calendars are made available on the

Bank’s website concurrently with their release to the market. Stock

exchange announcements are published via Newspoint, Oslo Stock
Exchange’s official communication channel for listed companies.

The Board of Directors has also established guidelines for the Bank’s
communication with shareholders outside the general meeting.

remuneration. For senior executives and key employees, the remu-

14. Company takeover
Any party intending to carry out an acquisition which will result in
them becoming the owner of a qualified stake (10% or more) in a
financial enterprise must notify the Financial Supervisory Authority
of Norway in advance. The acquisition of a qualified stake can only
be carried out in accordance with a permit issued by the Financial
Supervisory Authority of Norway.

the emphasis in the variable component of the remuneration being

The Bank has drawn up guidelines for takeover offers and

solvency and liquid asset management), implementation of the

accordance with these guidelines.

Remuneration to senior executives and key employees comprises a
fixed component and a variable component. The variable component must not amount to more than the fixed component, unless

specific conditions are met and the general meeting approves the
neration is determined on the basis of an overall assessment, with
based on results achieved, balance sheet management (including

Bank’s strategic plan and compliance with the adopted framework

Komplett Bank’s Board of Directors will consider any offers in

salary and other variable remuneration. The value of the options for

15. Auditor
The auditor presents an annual audit plan to the Board of Directors. The
auditor attends Board meetings which consider the annual accounts
and annually reviews the company’s internal control with the Board of
Directors. In accordance with the Board of Directors’ instructions, the
Board of Directors must hold at least one meeting with the auditor per
year which is not attended by either the CEO or any other members
of the general management. Every year, the auditor must confirm his
independence and specify the non-audit related services that have
been provided to the company during the financial year.

of allocation based on the trading price in accordance with Black &

The Bank has drawn up its own guidelines for non-audit tasks

for risk tolerance. The assessment considers overall goal attainment, trends over time and the Bank’s long-term interests. The

overall assessment must be based on both quantitative and qualitative factors. Komplett Bank’s scheme for variable remuneration

has been formulated in accordance with requirements applicable to
remuneration schemes for credit institutions.

Senior executives are also enrolled in a share option scheme for

employees. The option scheme is based on the employee’s basic

the allocated share options is based on full market value at the time
Scholes’ option price model. With regard to fixed pay, employees can
choose the proportion of their salary that is paid in share options,
within bands based on the employee’s position within the Bank.

performed by the Bank’s auditor.
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Declaration concerning corporate
social responsibility
Komplett Bank’s work relating to corporate social responsibility
permeates the Bank’s strategic plans, values, guidelines and

procedures. Komplett Bank has adopted ethical guidelines, which

who represents Komplett Bank must always strive to exercise
good judgement, caution and consideration.

set out the framework that will help representatives of the Bank

Risk management and internal control form an integral part of

line with the standards established by the Bank through its other

encompass measures and the management of operational risk.

to perform their duties in an ethically responsible manner and in
procedures and guidelines. An account is given below of the

Bank’s efforts to ensure that corporate social responsibility forms
an integral part of the Bank’s operations.

Responsible credit practice

Komplett Bank is required to ensure that it operates honestly

and fairly and in accordance with generally accepted business

Komplett Bank’s strategy and business processes, and also

Operational risk includes events which have a negative impact on
the Bank, including unethical actions or omissions in breach of

human rights. The Bank’s risk management and internal control thus
integrate human rights by ensuring that the strategy and business

processes are aimed at minimising operational risk and ensure the
implementation of measures in the event of exposure to such risk.

practice, as well as the requirement to safeguard the interests

The above shows that human rights are an integral part of

customers, the Bank has an overall goal and strategy to pursue

procedures help to ensure that Komplett Bank does not become

of consumers. As a provider of unsecured financing to private

responsible credit practice. The Board of Directors has adopted

specific guidelines and procedures for the lending business, which
are intended to ensure compliance with this objective. In addition,
the Bank’s internal procedures and processes are aligned with

applicable laws, regulations and other regulatory requirements.
All customers must be subject to a credit assessment based on
supplementary information obtained from the customer them-

selves concerning income, expenses, debt and wealth, as well as
information from other relevant databases. Komplett Bank does
not grant loans or issue credit cards to customers who do not

have sufficient debt servicing capacity. Marketing of the Bank’s

Komplett Bank’s operations. The Bank’s guidelines and other
involved in business transactions and other projects which
constitute unethical actions or omissions.

Workers’ rights and social relationships

Komplett Bank aims to be an attractive employer which offers a
good working environment. Every year, the Bank’s HR manager

conducts a review of issues such as absence due to illness and
gender equality. In 2019, an employee survey was conducted

amongst the Bank’s employees. This review forms an integral part
of the Bank’s internal control and provides a basis for implementing improvement measures as and when necessary.

products is aligned with statutory and regulatory requirements

The annual review indicates that the Bank’s employees are gener-

Houses (Finansieringsselskapenes Forening) regarding the

ronment is good, a view which is underlined by low turnover rates

and the Code of Practice of the Association of Norwegian Finance
marketing of credit cards and consumer loans.

Human rights

The ethical guidelines set out the framework that will help

representatives of the Bank to perform their duties in an ethically
responsible manner and in line with the standards established
by the Bank through its governing documents. The guidelines

supplement laws, rules, instructions and provisions which apply
to the Bank’s activities and establish principles for conduct and

actions in areas which other regulations otherwise do not cover.

The guidelines provide a framework for what the Bank considers
to be responsible conduct, but they are not exhaustive. Anyone

ally happy at their workplace and believe that their working enviamongst employees and generally low levels of absence due to

illness. The survey shows that there are some areas where there is
potential for improvement, and measures have been implemented
by the Bank in order to bring about improvements. Komplett Bank
has implemented measures to ensure that employees continue

to remain satisfied with the Bank as their employer, including the

planning of social events and more frequent employee develop-

ment reviews. Komplett Bank strives to promote gender equality
and ensure that all genders have equal opportunities. In 2019,

Komplett Bank had an absence due to illness rate which the Bank
considers to be low, but the Bank is striving to reduce absence
levels further. The Bank has implemented various measures
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with the aim of reducing absence due to illness, including closer
follow-up and dialogue with employees who are on sick leave.

The Board of Directors’ view is that the working environment is
consistently good.

External environment

Komplett Bank does not carry on activities which pollute the exter-

benefits or gifts to the Bank’s business connections or others

which could be perceived as an undue benefit. Requirements are

also imposed on employees and elected representatives regarding competence, due diligence and whistleblowing. The Bank’s

guidelines and procedures also include a description of measures
and business processes which are intended to prevent acts such
as fraud, identity theft and corruption.

which has limited environmental impact. Komplett Bank is also a

Prevention of money laundering
and terrorist financing

Bank’s website, so reducing the consumption of paper and the need

including money laundering and terrorist financing. In 2019, as part

nal environment beyond what is considered normal for banking,

fully digitalised bank, with the Bank’s products being offered via the

for travel. The Bank has not prepared any specific guidelines relating
to the external environment, but consideration for the environment
is largely addressed through the Bank’s business model.

Combatting corruption

Komplett Bank has adopted guidelines which stipulate that the
Bank’s operations must be carried out with high standards of

ethics and integrity. The Bank’s ethical guidelines impose require-

ments on employees, elected representatives and the Bank’s conduct, including a ban on the receiving, requesting or acceptance

of offers of undue benefits and a ban on the Bank offering financial

Komplett Bank is dedicated in the work to prevent financial crime

of the Bank’s core processes, it established a more comprehensive
framework on how money laundering and terrorist financing can be
prevented. This includes onBoarding and risk assessments of new
customers, review of high risk customers and accounts, running

customer and transaction monitoring and reporting and follow-up

processes. Komplett Bank organises the practice of the Boards of

Directors, management and employees to enhance awareness and
build expertise on how to prevent financial crimes. Komplett Bank
will continuously develop and improve its framework to prevent
money laundering and financial crime.
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Jan Haglund

Henning Fagerbakke

Steffen Ryengen

Mr. Haglund was appointed CEO in January

Henning Fagerbakke was CFO in January 2019,

Co-founder and CMO / CIO. Mr. Ryengen has

since 2015 and has previously held the posi-

Manager. He is an experienced finance profes-

services industry. Previous experience includes

Chief Executive Officer

2019. Mr. Haglund has worked at Komplett Bank
tions of Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Chief
Strategy Officer (CSO). He has an extensive

background from the financial services industry

and previous positions include CEO of Buckaroo,
Managing Director of Intrum Justitia Finance and
Nordic Head of Banks at Entercard. He holds an

MSc in Business Administration and Russian as

Chief Financial Officer

before which he held the position of Finance

sional and state authorised public accountant
with a background including several years as

Senior Auditor and Manager at KPMG Norway
and Business Controller at Gresvig. He holds
an MSc in Accounting and Auditing from the
Norwegian School of Economics.

well as a Master of Law from Uppsala University.

Chief Marketing Officer/ Chief
Information Officer
a comprehensive background in the financial

Head of Distribution, Marketing and Analytics
Financial Services at Accenture, Product

Development Manager at Santander Consumer
Bank and Project Manager at SEB Kort. He

holds an MSc in Business Administration and
Economics and an Executive MBA from the
Norwegian School of Economics.

Wilhelm B. Thomassen

Christina H. Pedersen

Annika Ramstedt

Thomassen served as Chief Compliance officer

Pedersen has been with the company since its

Ramstedt has been with Komplett Bank since

he was made Director of Legal and HR. He also

Member from March 2014 to March 2018. Before

Credit Risk and Collections in June 2019, she

Director Legal & HR

from May 2015 until May 2019, at which time
served as a board member from December

2012 to May 2015. Previous positions include

Director Lean & Business Development at Statoil
Fuel and Retail and Department Director of

Cards at Santander Consumer Bank. He holds a

master’s degree in European Business from Royal
Holloway University of London and an Executive
MBA from the Norwegian School of Economics.

Chief Operation Officer

founding and served as Employee Elected Board
being appointed COO in June 2019 she held

the position of Chief Human Relations Officer.

Previous positions include Corporate Trainee and
Senior Project Manager at DNB. Mrs. Pedersen
holds an MSc in Business Administration and

Economics from BI Norwegian Business School
and an MSc in Business Management with
Finance from Heriot-Watt University.

Director Credit Risk & Collections

early 2017. Before being appointed Director

worked for a period as Project Director followed

by Director Loans Sweden & Finland. She has an
extensive background in the Consumer Finance
sector in roles such as Head of Personal Loans
in Bluestep and Head of Credit Risk Sweden at

EnterCard. She holds a BA in Statistics from the
University of Stockholm.
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Eivind Bagås

Enok Hanssen

Eirik Holtedahl

Mr. Bagås has extensive experience from working

Mr. Hanssen has been with the company since

Mr. Holtedahl was appointed Director of Credit

Previous experience includes Compliance Officer

2019, his responsibilities were expanded to

19 years of experience working with consumer

Chief Compliance and Risk Officer

compliance in the banking and financial industry.
at Storebrand Kapitalforvaltning AS 2008-2014

and at Storebrand Finansiell Rådgivning AS from

2014-2017. Bagås has been with Komplett Bank
since 2017 and previously held the position of
risk and compliance manager before he was

appointed Chief Compliance and Risk Officer in
June 2019. Bagås holds a bachelor’s degree in

accounting and a Bachelor of Business Law from
BI Norwegian Business School.

Director Consumer loans & POS

early 2017 as Director of POS and in June

include overseeing consumer loans. Before

joining Komplett Bank Hanssen held a number of
positions with Intrum Justitia, including Group IT
Director Western Europe, Managing Director for
Intrum Justitia Italy and Business Development
Manager Central Europe. He also held the

position of CIO/COO for Buckaroo. Mr. Hanssen
holds a BBA from the University of Gothenburg.

Director Credit Cards

Cards in March 2018. Mr. Holtedahl has more than
finance, credit cards and financial services.

Previous positions include Co-Founder, CFO

and Deputy CEO in Advanzia Bank, Luxembourg,
Co-Founder and VP of Treasury in Bankia Bank

ASA and Deputy Director General in the Norwegian
Ministry of Finance. Mr. Holtedahl holds a Bachelor
of Commerce, Economics and Accountancy from

Concordia University (Canada) and an MSc. studies
in Economics from the University of Oslo.
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Overview

started in Norway in Q4 2015, in Sweden in Q1 2019 and in Finland

2014 when the company received its banking licence from the

Sweden in Q3 2017 and Q2 2018, respectively. In Q4 2018 the

Komplett Bank ASA (the “Bank”) started operations in March

Norwegian authorities. Komplett Bank offers convenient consumer financing products to credit-worthy customers.

in Q2 2019. POS finance products were launched in Norway and
Bank launched EUR denominated deposits in Germany and SEK

denominated deposits were launched in Sweden early in Q1 2020.

The Bank’s product suite consist of consumer loans, credit cards

In the near- to medium term, lending operations will be focused

in the Norwegian, Swedish and German markets. The Bank’s main

developing its current product portfolio in existing markets.

and point-of-sale (POS) finance products, and deposit products
products are consumer loans, offering Komplett Bank’s “flexible
loan,” a loan product with credit line functionality that gives the

on the Nordic region and the Bank will continue its expansion by

Operational review

The Bank’s deposit products are characterised by highly attractive

Loan growth and product development
Komplett Bank is well-positioned for sustainable growth, with a
diversified geographical and product-wise footprint, and not reliant
upon a single market.

of the Norwegian Banks’ Guarantee Fund, customer deposits are

The Bank follows a diversified multi-channel marketing and distribu-

guaranteed for up to EUR 100,000.

sheet and a flexible and low-cost operating model. Combined with

customer more flexibility in use of the credit line, and annuity loans,

which were launched in May 2019. The “Komplett Bank Mastercard”
is a credit card with product features tailored for online shopping.

interest rates in both Norway, Sweden and Germany. As a member

guaranteed up to NOK 2 million per customer. Foreign deposits are

Canica Invest AS, the owner of the leading web retailer in the Nordic

countries, the Komplett Group, is Komplett Bank’s largest shareholder
with an ownership of 19.4%. Komplett Bank has established a long-

term commercial and strategic partnership with the Komplett Group.
The Bank’s registered offices are at Vollsveien 2A and 2B in
Lysaker outside Oslo, Norway.

In November 2017, the Bank was listed on the Main List of Oslo

tion strategy, has a strong financial position with a resilient balance
a well-known brand and strong distribution capabilities, this puts
Komplett Bank in a favourable competitive position.

During 2019, Komplett Bank continued to grow its loan portfolio and

net loans grew by NOK 651 million to reach NOK 8.5 billion at the end of
2019. This growth was driven primarily by consumer loans in Sweden
and Finland, which grew by NOK 586 million and NOK 708 million,

respectively. Loans in Norway decreased by NOK 759 million, net of
NOK 618 million sold as part of the Bank’s forward flow agreement.

Stock Exchange with ticker symbol “KOMP”.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, Komplett Bank implemented stricter

Strategy and long-term ambitions

impacted lending growth throughout the year. In addition, on 15

Komplett Bank is pursuing a growth strategy based on geographical and product-wise diversification and expansion. The strategy
is founded on a digital, scalable, efficient and low-cost operating

model combined with strong risk control. The Bank operates on a
cross-border basis from Lysaker, outside of Oslo. The Norwegian
banking license provides for passporting of the Bank’s offering
throughout the entire European Economic Area (EEA).

The Bank launched consumer loans in Norway in Q1 2014, in

Finland in Q1 2017 and Sweden in Q1 2018. In May 2019, the

Bank launched a new annuity loan product tailored to meet new

consumer lending regulations in Norway. Credit card operations

credit measures, particularly in the Norwegian market, which

May 2019, new consumer lending regulations in Norway came into

effect. These regulations introduced new requirements related to the
amortisation schedule of revolving credit facilities. This had a direct

impact on Komplett Bank’s “flexible loan” product and its competitive

characteristics, particularly in the refinancing segment, the new regulations had an adverse effect on consumer loan growth in Norway.
In response to the new consumer lending regulation in Norway,
Komplett Bank launched a new annuity lending product in May
2019. An additional annuity lending product with refinancing

functionality will be introduced to the Norwegian market during

the first half of 2020 and is expected to improve Komplett Bank’s

Komplett Bank Annual Report 2019

Net loan distribution
by product

Customer distribution
by product
Loans Norway 16%

Loans Norway 44%

NOK

Loans Finland 9%

Loans Finland 29%

8.5

270,000

Loans Sweden 12%

billion

Credit cards 9%

Loans Sweden 3%
Credit cards 20%
Point-of-sales finance 43%

Point-of-sales finance 6%

Deposits 9%

Throughout 2019, the Bank maintained stable good growth for con-

Operational efficiency
Operational efficiency with low cost is a foundation for Komplett
Bank, and it is enabled by centralised operations, modern systems
and a digital setup.

improved portfolio diversification, in line with the Bank’s long-term

During 2019, Komplett Bank continued to develop and expand

competitive position in Norway. Following an initial launch in Norway,
these products may be introduced to other markets in 2020.

sumer loans in Sweden and Finland, which resulted in substantially
strategy for geographical and product-wise expansion.

its operational platform with new solutions. Both Google Pay and
Apple Pay were launched in July 2019 and enabled Komplett

Komplett Bank launched credit cards in Sweden during the first

quarter of 2019 followed by Finland in the second quarter. Throughout

2019, credit card loans declined by 5% to NOK 801 million, net of NOK

Bank’s Mastercard for mobile payment throughout the Mastercard
ecosystem.

185 million in forward flow sales and an one-off sale in the Norwegian

Komplett Bank is also in the process of developing a new innova-

are slightly below 10% of the total credit card loans portfolio.

of 2020. The mobile banking app will increase accessibility and

market. At the end of the year credit card loans in Finland and Sweden

Point-of-sales (POS Finance) grew by 48% in 2019 to NOK 505 mil-

lion, mainly driven by seasonal effects in Q4. Currently POS Finance
is available on Komplett’s Norwegian and Swedish websites.

In 2019 deposits were significantly impacted by the launch of EUR

tive mobile banking app, which will be launched during the first half
enhance services provided to customers.

The Bank’s focused and standardised product offering together

with extensive self-service functionality further enhances the cost
efficiency and scalability in the business model.

deposits in late 2018, contributing to an increase in deposits of

At the end of the year, the Bank had approximately 270,000

to German customers. The Bank also entered the Swedish deposit

end of 2018. Of these, 28% were consumer lending customers,

16%. Currently the Bank offers fixed-term and overnight accounts
market in January 2020, and both the German and the Swedish
deposits will contribute to lowering the overall funding ratios.

Consumer loans
Credit cards
POS Finance
Deposits

20% were credit card customers, 43% were point-of-sales finance
customers and 9% were deposit customers.

Komplett Bank uses credit models to make lending decisions.

TABLE 1: NET LENDING BY PRODUCT
NOK million

customers, an increase of 29% from 209,000 customers at the

2019

2018

Change

7,190
801
505
8,520

6,656
847
341
7,366

8%
-5%
48%
16%

Based on information in the application, as well as data collected

from internal and external sources, an automatic credit decision is
calculated, and an offer is potentially made to the customer.

The introduction of the Norwegian debt register in 2019 improved
the credit decision for the Norwegian market further by pro-

viding a new tool to quickly and efficiently assess applicants’
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credit-worthiness by providing an overview of all outstanding

· Enhanced whistle-blower process with anonymous external channel

loan applications (SBL) in 2019, which enables the continued

· policies and procedures relating to AML

unsecured debt. Komplett Bank also implemented consent-based
automatic processing of loan applications in Norway.

· Reviewed and updated the risk assessment processes and

· Established a new reporting structure to management and the
Board of Directors

Debt registers are also available and utilised by Komplett Bank in

· Implemented a targeted AML training programme for all

Organisational development
Changes in top management
In January 2019, following the resignation of Raimond Pettersen,
Jan Haglund was appointed as acting Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
and in March 2019, he was named CEO on a permanent basis.

In Q3 2019, Komplett Bank’s Internal Auditor (EY) performed an

Prior to his appointment, Jan Haglund had been a member of

dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

its assessment of applicants in Sweden and Finland.

Komplett Bank’s management team for several years, first as Chief

employees

assessment of the Bank’s AML procedures, which was submitted to
the FSA together with the Bank’s final report on 1 October 2019.

Review of the annual accounts

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accor-

Strategy Officer and later as Chief Financial Officer (CFO).

Komplett Bank has identified cost-income ratio, loan loss ratio,

At the same time, Henning Fagerbakke was appointed as CFO

as Alternative Performance Measures in addition to the financial

of Komplett Bank. He previously held the position of Finance
Manager at the Bank.

Corporate governance

Throughout 2019, Komplett Bank underwent significant organisational development. On 10 May 2019, Komplett Bank was among
several banks to receive a report from the Norwegian Financial
Supervisory Authority (FSA) in which the FSA identified several

operational areas of improvement and remarked on the Bank’s antimoney laundering (AML) procedures. No money laundering activi-

ties or attempted money laundering activities were identified. On 1

return on equity (ROE) and adjusted return on equity (ROE adj.)

information prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
EU. Please see note 22 for further details.

2019 financial highlights:
· Total income of NOK 1,176 million
· Pre-tax profit of NOK 280 million
· Net lending was NOK 8,496 million as of 31 December 2019
· Cost-income ratio was 30.5% 1)
· Loan loss ratio was 5.6% 2)
· Return on Equity (ROE) was 12% 3)

significant measures to address improvement areas marked upon

Profit and Loss
Income
Komplett Bank’s total income was NOK 1,176 million in 2019,
an increase of NOK 144 million (14%) compared to 2018. The
increased income was driven by increased net interest income,
which grew by 16% to NOK 1,115 million in 2019, primarily as a
result of loan portfolio growth.

Measures to address aforementioned AML considerations included

Income from commissions and fees increased to NOK 172 million

tion of roles and responsibilities.

finance. Expenses from commissions and fees also grew in 2019

July 2019, the FSA notified Komplett Bank of a NOK 18 million AML
administrative fee. The Bank acknowledges that internal routines

previously were not strong enough and remains strongly committed
to ensuring compliance with all relevant rules and regulations.

Following the receipt of the FSA’s report, the Bank implemented
by the FSA and to ensure full compliance with AML regulations.

a complete restructuring of the management team and a clarifica-

Organisational- and operational changes related to AML included,
but were not limited to:

· Established a new Board Audit & Risk committee, an Internal Audit
function and a new, dedicated Compliance and Risk function

· Established separate AML team, reporting to the COO and
· recruited a dedicated AML officer

1)
2)
3)

from NOK 148 million in 2018, driven by growth in point-of-sales

to reach NOK 114 million, up from 74 million in the previous year.
This increase was largely the result of agent distribution costs in
Finland and Sweden, broker costs related to the launch of EUR
deposits and commission costs related to the launch of credit
cards in Sweden and Finland.

As a result, net commissions and fees declined by 21% year-onyear to NOK 59 million in 2019.

Total operating expenses, excluding marketing expense and losses on loans/net interest income and net commissions. See Note 22 of the annual financial
statements for a detailed calculation.
Losses on loans for the year/average yearly net loans to customers as a percentage.

Profit for the year/average yearly equity as a %. See Note 22 of the annual financial statements for a detailed calculation.
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TABLE 2: INCOME
NOK million

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Net comm. and fees
Other gains/losses
Total income

to update the estimates for expected credit losses (ECL) and revise
2019

2018

Change

1,282
-167
1,115
59
2
1,176

1,100
-141
959
74.1
-2
1,031

17%
18%
16%
-21%
14%

Operating expenses

Operating expenses excluding marketing were NOK 358 million, up

model parameters across the entire product portfolio in Norway,

Sweden and Finland. This revision resulted in additional loan loss

provisions of NOK 105 million in the fourth quarter 2019. Komplett

Bank has entered into a forward flow agreement with Axactor for the
sale of non-performing consumer loans in Norway. The agreement
has a duration of 12 months from March 2020.

Adjusted for the additional provisions made in the fourth quarter
of 2019, losses on loans were NOK 350 million in 2019, which
corresponds to a loan loss ratio of 4.3%.

54% from NOK 232 million in 2018. The higher expenses were partly

The increased loan loss ratio was the result of several factors,

higher depreciation, both of which increased largely as a result of

out the year, for which provisioning levels were higher compared

the result of an increased number of employees from 89 to 140 and
organisational changes in Norway, new product launches and the

scale-up of lending and credit card operations in Sweden and Finland.
In addition, Komplett Bank incurred NOK 32 million in non-recurring
costs during the year, primarily related to external support for

implementation work following the FSA report and the exploration of

strategic growth opportunities. In addition, in the last two quarters of
the year, the Bank made loss provisions due to a supply agreement.
On 1 July 2019, Komplett Bank received an AML administrative fee
of NOK 18 million, which was recognised in the second quarter.

Marketing expenses in 2019 were NOK 84 million, a decrease from
NOK 107 million in 2018, primarily as a result of the Bank actively

managing loan growth, particularly during the second half of the year.

Salary & personnel
General admin
Direct marketing
Depreciation
Other
Total OPEX incl. marketing

to the Norwegian portfolio. In addition, underlying loan losses

increased substantially in the fourth quarter of the year, driven by
the expiration of the Bank’s forward flow contract in the quarter

as well as an increase in non-performing loans, primarily for credit
cards and consumer loans in Norway.

Approximately 45% of loans that defaulted in Norway in the fourth

quarter 2019 originated in 2018. Initiated in Q4 2018 and throughout 2019, the Bank continuously worked to improve its customer
acquisition process and to strengthen its credit risk strategy.
Profits and taxes

Pre-tax operating profit was NOK 280 million, down from NOK 443
million in 2018.

As pre-tax operating profit decreased in 2019, tax expenses for the
full year were NOK 77 million, down from NOK 112 million in 2018.

TABLE 3: OPERATING EXPENSES
NOK million

including consumer loan growth in Sweden and Finland through-

2019

2018

Change

135
172
84
55
79
442

109
170
107
29
31
339

24%
1%
-22%
91%
155%
30%

Losses on loans

Losses on loans were NOK 454 million in 2019, up from NOK 249
million in 2018.

In the fourth quarter of 2019, following a thorough review of the

underlying performance of the Bank’s NPL portfolios and secondary

market conditions, management and the Board of Directors decided

The resulting profit after tax for the year was NOK 203 million,

down from NOK 331 million in 2018. This corresponds to a return
on equity (ROE) of 12%, which is a decrease from 23% in 2018
and below the Bank’s long-term target of 20%.

Adjusted for the additional loan loss provisions made in the fourth
quarter and the NOK 18 million AML fee received in the second
quarter, profit after tax was NOK 299 million, corresponding to
ROE adj. of 17.2%.

Cash flow
In 2019, cash flow from operating activities was NOK -197 million,
compared to NOK 929 million in 2018 significantly impacted
by changes in loans to customers and deposits from and debt
to customers as well as the placement of surplus liquidity in certificates and bonds.
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Cash flow from investments was NOK -99 million, down from NOK

-69 million. The increased investments were linked to the development of tools that will contribute to the Bank’s present operations
and future-oriented projects.

The cash flow from financing activities was NOK -378 million,

down from NOK -2 million in 2018. The negative cash flow from

financing activities was due to the repayment of a NOK 400 million
unsecured bond.

At the end of the period, total cash and cash equivalents were

NOK 615 million, down from NOK 1,232 million at the end of 2018.
TABLE 4: CASH FLOW
NOK million

2019

2018

Cash flow from operations
Cash flow from investments
Cash flow from financing
Net cash flow
Cash at the end of the period

-197
-99
-378
-674
615

929
69
-2
858
1,232

Financial position
At 31 December 2019, total assets were NOK 10,620 million, an
increase from NOK 9,661 million at the end of 2018. The increase
is mainly driven by growth in lending portfolio during 2019.
Defaulted loans at the end of 2019 amounted to NOK 1,285 million,

TABLE 5: BALANCE SHEET
NOK million

Total assets
Total liabilities
Total equity
Total equity & liabilities

2019

2018

Change

10,620
8,771
1,850
10,620

9,661
8,041
1,620
9,661

10%
9%
14%
10%

Capital adequacy
In May 2019, The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway
completed its Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP)
of Komplett Bank and set the Bank’s Pillar 2 common equity tier 1
(CET1) buffer requirement to 6.5% of risk-weighted assets.
On 30 September 2019, the Swedish FSA increased the countercyclical capital buffer requirement from 2.0% to 2.5%, while

the Norwegian Ministry of Finance increased the countercyclical

capital buffer requirement to 2.5% from 31 December 2019. As of
31 December 2019, the Bank’s weighted countercyclical capital
buffer requirement was 1.8%.

As of 31 December 2019, the minimum requirement for CET1 for
Komplett Bank was 18.3% and the total capital requirement was
21.8%.

Komplett Bank has set a CET1 ratio target of 19.3%, which

includes a 1.0% management buffer. The Bank targets a total
capital ratio of 22.8%.

equivalent to 13.8% of gross lending to customers. At the end of

At the end of 2019, Komplett Bank remained well capitalised

of gross lending. Accumulated impairments of loans at 31 December

requirement. The total capital adequacy ratio was 22.5%, up from

2018 defaulted loans were NOK 840 million, corresponding to 10.1%
2019 amounted to NOK 810 million, up from NOK 472 million at

December 2018. Losses on loans for the 2019 financial year were
NOK 454 million, an increase from NOK 249 million in 2018.

Deposits from customers totalled NOK 8,520 million at the end of
2019, an increase from NOK 7,366 million at 31. December 2018

mainly driven by the launch of German deposit products in late 2018.
In 2017, the Bank issued a senior unsecured bond of NOK 400
million, with maturity in July 2019, which was fully repaid to the
bond holders.

The Bank’s liquid assets, comprising of deposits with credit institutions and liquid securities totalled NOK 1,944.4 million, which is
equivalent to 18.3% of the Bank’s total assets.

Total equity was NOK 1,850 million, up from NOK 1,620 million at the
end of 2018.

with a CET1 ratio of 21.2%, well above the minimum regulatory
21.4% at the end of 2018, which is above the minimum capital
requirement, but below the Bank’s targeted capital ratio.

Additional tier 1 (AT1) and tier 2 (T2) capital made up 0.5% and
0.7% of the Bank’s capital adequacy, respectively.

Going forward, Komplett Bank expects to continue building capital

organically, and will consider the issuance of new AT1 or T2 capital.
For additional information on capital adequacy, please refer to Note 9.

Allocation of profit for the year

Komplett Bank’s dividend policy is to pay out excess capital which is
not deployed for growth purposes.

Given the capital situation as at 31 December 2019, it is the

assessment of the Board of Directors that Komplett Bank is not
yet in a position to distribute dividends. It is therefore proposed
that the profit after tax for 2019 be transferred to retained
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product-wise diversification and expansion and in early 2019

Ensuring a continued robust financial position
and dividend capacity
Komplett Bank has a solid financial position and remained well capitalised at the end of 2019. At the end of 2019, Komplett Bank did
not fully utilise its capacity for AT1 and T2 capital and, as such, there
is potential to improve the efficiency of the Bank’s capital structure.

Bank will not seek to expand into new products or markets but

As a result, total capital ratio did not meet the Bank’s total capital

competitive position within existing products and markets.

expects to continue to build capital organically and to reach its

earnings in its entirety. This allocation will increase retained
earnings by NOK 203 million.

Outlook

Komplett Bank follows a strategic roadmap for geographical and
credit cards were launched in Sweden and Finland. In 2020, the
will work to deepen market penetration and to strengthen its

In 2019, increased regulatory pressure had a significant impact

ratio target at the end of 2019. Going forward, Komplett Bank
capital adequacy target during the first half of 2020.

on loan growth in the Norwegian market. Komplett Bank expects

At Komplett Bank’s annual general meeting on 26 March 2019,

in May 2019 will continue to dampen market growth for consumer

400 million in AT1 or T2 capital. Going forward, Komplett Bank

that the new consumer lending regulations introduced in Norway
lending in Norway going forward.

Strengthening operational performance
Komplett Bank will continue to focus on creating customer value
through flexible solutions and efficient and customer friendly
processes. To do this, the Bank will enhance key customer touch
points. A new mobile app will be launched in the first half of 2020,
enhancing functionality for the Bank’s customers.

the Board of Directors was given authorisation to raise up to NOK
will consider the issuance of such capital to improve its capital
structure and enable a more efficient use of its core capital.

Financial risk

impacted loan growth in Norway. A new annuity lending product

Credit risk
The Board has adopted a credit policy with guidelines for credit
approval, risk limits, monitoring and reporting in the area. The Board
of Directors is working in close cooperation with the Bank’s management on the losses of loans and are frequently updated on vital
credit risk processes and key performance indicators. The credit
risk appetite set by the credit risk policy is maintained by the Bank.

market during the first half of 2020 and is expected to improve

The Bank only offers loans to private individuals following a credit

initial launch in Norway, the product might also be introduced to

to pay. The credit decision for individual loan applications is based

In 2019, the lack of a competitive refinancing product negatively
with refinancing functionality will be introduced to the Norwegian
Komplett Bank’s competitive position in Norway. Following the

the Swedish and Finnish markets alongside the Bank’s existing
flexible loan products.

assessment which evaluates the borrowers’ willingness and ability
on an assessment of available external and internal information
pertaining to the applicant.

Reversing the negative trend in credit losses
In the fourth quarter of 2018, Komplett Bank adjusted its credit risk
appetite, implementing stricter credit measures in the Norwegian market, and throughout 2019 the Bank continuously worked to improve its
customer acquisition process and to strengthen its credit risk strategy.

A combined process is carried out using both an application score and

Following the negative development in losses on loans in the fourth

has been done to mitigate high risk with changes made to the

quarter, Komplett Bank initiated a complete revision of its credit risk
strategy. Going forward, the Bank will continue its strict focus on

improving risk management procedures, including policy rules and
scorecards, invoicing and collection processes and bill payment

functionality, to reverse the recent negative trend in credit losses.
Losses on loans are expected to remain high in 2020, which will
impact profitability. Komplett Bank is therefore not expected to
meet its long-term target of 20% return on equity in 2020.

specific credit rules. The Bank applies risk-based pricing in accordance
with the assessment carried out in the establishment of each loan.

As a result of a higher loan loss ratio in 2019 than desired, actions
have been put in place to address the loan losses. Enhancement
Bank’s credit risk policy rules, limit strategy and rebuilding of
scorecard. Focus is also to improve the Bank’s invoice and
collection processes, including bill payment functionality.

Operational risk
The Board has adopted policies that include guidelines for
operational risk, risk limits, monitoring and reporting. The policies
are discussed by the Board at least annually. The Board receives
regular updates and reports on operational matters and any
planned or possible measures.
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Services from external service providers were used extensively

to customers in NOK and EUR. The Bank’s net foreign exchange

with established guidelines for outsourcing. The Bank strives for a

facility in another bank. Net loans to Finnish and Swedish custom-

in the Bank’s operations. These services are monitored in line

high degree of automated, effective and scalable processes that

safeguard the needs of customers and the Bank in a satisfactory
and reliable manner.

Liquidity risk
The Board has adopted a financial policy, which includes guidelines for liquidity management, risk limits, monitoring and reporting
within this area. The guidelines are discussed by the Board at least
annually. The Board receives regular reports on developments in
the Bank’s liquidity risk.
The Bank’s objective is to have a low liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is

regularly monitored, and the Bank’s investments are made in such
a manner that the liquidity risk is kept at a low level. The Bank’s
investments principally consist of deposits in other financial

institutions and interest-bearing securities with good liquidity and
low counterparty risk.

The liquidity risk was considered low during 2019. Loans to cus-

tomers have been financed using paid-in equity, retained earnings,
subordinated bonds and deposits from the Bank’s customers.

The Bank issued a senior unsecured bond in 2017 which was fully
repaid to the bond holders as the bond matured in July 2019.

The liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) requirement that entered into

force on 31 December 2015 has been complied with. The Bank
had an LCR of 716% as of 31 December 2019.

Market risk
The Board-approved finance policy also covers guidelines for
market risk (including interest rate and currency risk), risk limits,
monitoring and reporting in the area. The guidelines are discussed
by the Board at least annually. The Board receives regular reports
on developments in the Bank’s market risk.

exposure is kept low and is controlled through a multi-currency

ers were respectively EUR 246.7 million and SEK 1,309.0 million,
equivalent to NOK 2,433.1 million and NOK 1,236.0 million as of

31 December 2019. The Bank’s open net currency exposure was
EUR 7.7 million and SEK 32.6 million as at 31 December 2019.
The Bank does not offer fixed term interest rates on any of its
products other than fixed-term deposits in Germany.

Working environment, gender equality
and non-discrimination

The Bank’s Board and management strive to promote gender

equality. At the start of the year, the Bank employed 89 persons,

compared to 140 at year end. At the end of the year, 90 employees
were men and 50 were women. There were four men and three

women on the Board of Directors. One of the Bank’s objectives is to

ensure that both genders are represented in all management bodies.
The Bank’s share option programme, described in greater detail in
Note 14 of the annual financial statements, and a bonus pro-

gramme that includes all employees, are considered good incen-

tives for enhancing and aligning the mutual interests of the Bank’s
employees with those of the company and the shareholders. The

programmes are considered to be an important motivating factor
for employee work efforts and ongoing workplace assessments,
while also contributing to employee retention. There are favourable pension and employer’s liability insurance plans in place.

Total sick leave in 2019 was 3.8%, down from 4.8% in 2018. The

Bank has implemented various activities and welfare initiatives to

promote an active social environment, well-being at the workplace
and to prevent and reduce sick leave. One of the initiatives offered
is physical exercise during working hours. The Bank expands its

rented premises when needed to adapt to growth and to further
improve working conditions.

The Bank’s objective is to have low market risk. Market risk is

The Bank has established guidelines to ensure that no discrimination

manner that the market risk is maintained low. The Bank’s invest-

skin colour, language, religion or beliefs in matters such as recruit-

regularly monitored, and the Bank’s investments made in such a

ments primarily consist of deposits in other financial institutions

and interest-bearing securities with short- term fixed interest rates
and good liquidity.

In 2019, the Bank made purchases in foreign currencies and has

or harassment occurs based on ethnicity, national origin, descent,

ment and pay. The same applies to gender, age, sexual orientation,

political views or disabilities. No breaches of the above established

guidelines have been reported or identified. There have also been no
reports of severe injuries or accidents at the workplace.

loans in the Finnish and Swedish markets, in addition to Norway.

The Bank has established both an internal and an external

In January 2020, Komplett Bank launched deposit accounts

reporting any irregularities. The routine shall safeguard the con-

Deposits are mainly from the Norwegian and German markets.
in Sweden. Therefore, as of 31 December 2019, the Bank had

loans to customers in NOK, EUR and SEK and offered deposits

whistleblowing routine to facilitate easy and a low threshold for

siderations both of the whistleblower and the person(s) reported

on and is readily available for all the Bank’s employees. Employees
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can report both internally and externally, the latter through KPMG

Environmental statement

reports received.

environment beyond what is common for banking operations, which

which organises the Bank’s external hotline. In 2019 there were no

The working environment committee is a cooperative body

whose purpose is to implement a sound working environment in

the Bank. The committee consists of two members representing
the employer and two members representing the employees
and there have been two meetings in 2019. The committee

The Bank does not conduct business that pollutes the external

inherently have limited environmental impact. Komplett Bank is fully

digitised with products exclusively offered on the Bank’s webpages,
which leads to low consumption of paper and transport. The Bank

has not adopted separate guidelines relating to the external environment, however, it is largely covered by the Bank’s business model.

participates in the planning of protection and environmental work

Other information

safety, health and welfare of the employees.

tion. The Board is not aware of events after the balance sheet date that

and pays attention to the development in questions regarding the

The Bank carried out an employee survey during the autumn of

The Board confirms that the Bank satisfies the going concern assumpare of material importance to the annual financial statements.

2019. It was a survey-feedback method based on the Job-Demand

The Bank had extensive development activities in 2019. Among

a work environment that balances requirements and resources,

contribute to the Bank’s present operations and future-oriented

Resource model. The model indicates the Bank’s ability to develop

providing the basis for a work environment that improves command
of work tasks and commitment to the organisation as such. The
results of the survey provided important feedback, which will be

used to develop and measure changes to the work environment
going forward. The employee survey will be carried out annually.

Statement of corporate social responsibility

Please see the separate statement of corporate social responsibility in the appendix to the annual report.

projects that it will be possible to realise in order to reinforce the
Bank’s commercial position.

In 2019 the Bank was one of several banks the FSA visited for an IFRS
9 - Financial instruments theme review. The review focused, amongst
other, on the Bank’s loan loss model, the corporate governance

related to the model and the note information presented in the Bank’s

financial reports. The Bank received a preliminary report from the FSA
in December 2019 and, as a consequence, changed the note infor-

mation in the annual report for 2019 so that the Bank’s stakeholders

Corporate governance

Komplett Bank’s company management and corporate gover-

nance focus on achieving the company’s strategic objectives. See
the separate statement of corporate governance in the appendix
to the annual report.

other things, these were linked to the development of tools that will

receive an improved understanding on how loan impairments are

estimated. A final report is expected to be published by the FSA later
in 2020. However, the Bank does not expect any material changes

to be made in the statement of comprehensive income or financial
position following the final report from the FSA.

Bærum, 3 March 2020 - Board of Directors of Komplett Bank ASA

Stig Eide Sivertsen

Bodil Palma Hollingsæter

Live Bertha Haukvik

Harald Rygh Hjorthen

Jan Ole Stangeland

Hilde Berge Aasen

Morten Fredrik Petterøe

Jan Olov Haglund

Chairperson

Member of the Board

Member of the Board

Vice Chairperson

Member of the Board

Chief Executive Officer

Member of the Board

Member of the Board
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Confirmation on Annual Report and Board of Directors’ Report

Confirmation on Annual Report
and Board of Directors’ Report
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the Annual report for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 has been

prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards with such additional information as required by the Accounting Act and

gives a true and fair view of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results of operations, and that the Board of Directors’ report
provides a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Bank, together with a description of the key risks and uncertainty factors that the Bank is facing.

Bærum, 3 March 2020 - Board of Directors of Komplett Bank ASA

Stig Eide Sivertsen

Bodil Palma Hollingsæter

Live Bertha Haukvik

Harald Rygh Hjorthen

Jan Ole Stangeland

Hilde Berge Aasen

Morten Fredrik Petterøe

Jan Olov Haglund

Chairperson

Member of the Board

Member of the Board

Vice Chairperson

Member of the Board

Chief Executive Officer

Member of the Board

Member of the Board
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Stig Eide Sivertsen

Bodil Palma Hollingsæter

Mr. Sivertsen has served as independent Board member in Komplett Bank

Mrs. Hollingsæter was elected vice Chairperson of the Bank in April 2015 and

of the Board in August 2019. He has broad operational experience from

as Special Advisor at Innovation Norway and as vice Chairperson of Teknika

Chairperson

ASA since the general meeting of 2018. He was appointed Chairperson

technology, media and finance as well as extensive experience as a Board
member of listed companies. Sivertsen served as CFO in Schibsted and
PGS, was the founder and CEO of Nettavisen and group CEO of Telenor

Broadcast Holding AS, in addition to group CEO in Opplysningen (1881) AS.

He holds a BA (Hons) Econ and an MSc. from University of Durham (UK) and
supplementary Law degree from the University of Bergen.

Vice Chairperson

has served on the Board since March 2014. Mrs. Hollingsæter currently works
AS. She has an extensive banking background on an executive level from

positions, such as Director at Innovation Norway, Regional General Manager at
Sparebanken Møre and Bank Manager at Romsdals Fellesbank. She also has

Board experience from companies including Eksportfinans, Kommunekreditt

and Kommunalbanken. She holds an MSc. in Business and Economics and an
AFA (CEFA equiv.) from the Norwegian School of Economics.

Live Haukvik

Jan Ole Stangeland

Ms. Haukvik has been member of the Board of Directors since 2013 and the

Board member since March 2018. Mr. Stangeland has broad and relevant

2019. Ms. Haukvik previously worked as CFO / COO in Komplett Group. She

company Canica AS. In addition, Stangeland has been a member of the

Member of the Board
Chairperson of the Board of Directors from December 2013 until August

has extensive Board experience from several blue chip companies including
Eksportfinans, Kvaerner, BI Norwegian Business School, Sparebanken 1 BV
and Borgestad. She holds a Master of Finance (liz.rer.pol.) from Université

de Fribourg, Switzerland and a Master of Management from BI Norwegian
Business School.

Member of the Board

financial market experience as the long-standing CFO of the investment
Bank’s Nomination Committee and, both through this appointment and

through the position as the CFO of the bank’s largest shareholder, knows

the bank well. He holds an MSc in Business Administration and Economics
from BI Norwegian Business School.
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Hilde Berge Aasen

Harald Hjorthen

Employee elected Board member since March 2018. Ms. Aasen has since

Member of the Board of Directors since August 2019. Mr. Hjorthen has

position as Head of marketing in June 2019. She has previously worked

investment analyst at Kistefoss AS, seven years as portfolio manager at

Member of the Board

June 2015 worked as Director of CRM in the Bank. Today she holds the
in Gjensidige both as CRM Manager and Analyst Manager. Before that

she worked in DNB as Senior Market Analyst. Mrs. Aasen holds a MSc. in

Economics from the University of Oslo and a MSc. in Management from BI
Norwegian Business School.

Morten Petterøe
Member of the Board

Employee elected Board member since March 2018. Mr. Petterøe has worked
as Head of IT Architecture and Software Architect in the Bank since April

2015. He holds the rank of Lieutenant in the Royal Norwegain Air Force. Over
the last 19 years he has worked within IT development, of which the last 15

years has been within payment services and banking domain. His education
is from NTNU - Norwegian University of Science and Technology and Iowa
State University (USA).

Member of the Board
extensive experience from the financial industry as a credit analyst at DNB,
Norges Bank Investment Management (NBIM) stationed in Norway and

Singapore and as an analyst in Trient Asset Management. Today he works
as manager of his family’s investment company, Sniptind Invest AS. He

holds a MSc in Economics and Business Administration from the Norwegian
School of Economics.

33

34

Financial statements

Komplett Bank Annual Report 2019

Financial statements

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the period

36

Statement of financial position as at the end of the period

37

Statement of cash flow for the period

38

Statement of changes in equity for the period

39

35

36

Financial statements

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the period
Amounts in NOK million

Interest income
Interest expenses
Net interest income
Income commissions and fees
Expenses commissions and fees
Net commissions and fees
Net gains / losses (-) on certificates and bonds, and currency
Total income
Salary and other personnel expenses
General administrative expenses
Direct marketing expenses
Total salary and administrative expenses
Ordinary depreciation
Other expenses
Total operating expenses excluding losses on loans
Losses on loans
Pre-tax operating profit
Tax expenses
Profit after tax
Earnings per share (NOK)
Diluted earnings per share (NOK)

Note

2019

2018

2, 10
2, 7, 10

1,282.5
-167.2
1,115.3

1,100.4
-141.3
959.1

2, 10
2, 10

172.4
-113.8
58.6

148.2
-74.2
74.1

4, 19, 20

1.7
1,175.6

-1.8
1,031.4

11, 14
12
12

-135.4
-172.4
-84.0
-307.8

-109.1
-170.4
-107.2
-279.5

5
11, 12, 17

13
16

-54.9
-79.0
-441.7
-454.3
279.6
-76.7
202.9

-28.7
-31.0
-339.2
-249.0
443.1
-112.0
331.1

16
16

1.11
1.06

1.91
1.75

Note

2019

2018

16

202.9
202.9

331.1
331.1

2

Comprehensive income
Amounts in NOK million

Profit after tax
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income for the period

16
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Statement of financial position
as at the end of the period
Amounts in NOK million

Note

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

3, 15, 19
2, 15, 19
4, 15, 19, 20
5
13
5, 23
17, 19

614.7
8,495.8
1,329.8
143.3
0.8
17.3
18.8
10,620.4

1,232.4
7,844.3
436.4
96.0
39.5
1.7
10.4
9,660.7

7, 15, 19
7, 15, 19
7, 15, 17, 19, 23
7, 15, 19
13

8,519.5
149.5
64.9
37.0
8,770.9

7,365.6
399.8
100.0
64.7
110.8
8,040.9

6, 9
9
9
9
9

184.1
786.7
45.8
788.4
44.6
1,849.5
10,620.4

172.7
771.9
42.2
588.4
44.6
1,619.8
9,660.7

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Fixed assets
Other receivables
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Senior unsecured bond
Other debt
Subordinated loans
Tax payable
Total liabilities
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other paid-in equity
Retained earnings
Tier 1 capital
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

Bærum, 3 March 2020 - Board of Directors of Komplett Bank ASA

Stig Eide Sivertsen

Bodil Palma Hollingsæter

Live Bertha Haukvik

Harald Rygh Hjorthen

Jan Ole Stangeland

Hilde Berge Aasen

Morten Fredrik Petterøe

Jan Olov Haglund

Chairperson

Member of the board

Member of the board

Vice Chairperson

Member of the board

Chief Executive Officer

Member of the board

Member of the board
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Statement of cash flow for the period

Amounts in NOK million

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit after tax
Tax expenses
Taxes paid
Depreciation
Change in impairments on loans to customers
Change in loans to customers
Effects of currency on loans to customers in the period
Change in deposits from and debt to customers
Effects of currency on deposits from and debt to customers in the period
Purchase of certificates and bonds
Sale of certificates and bonds
Change in accruals
Net cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Investments in fixed assets
Investments in intangible assets
Net cash flow used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Paid-in equity
Payment of senior unsecured bond
Payment to Tier 1 capital investors
Net cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow for the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period
Effects of currency on loans and deposits with credit institutions in the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Note

2019

2018

202.9
76.7
-107.2
54.9
338.5
-989.9
-18.4
1,153.9
-46.9
-1,688.9
795.5
31.6
-197.2

331.1
112.0
-82.7
28.7
179.0
-2,720.1
66.4
3,035.2
-669.7
614.9
34.3
929.1

5
5

-0.6
-98.6
-99.2

-1.1
-67.5
-68.6

6
7

26.2
-400.0
-3.8
-377.6

1.3
-3.7
-2.3

-674.0
1,232.4
56.3
614.7

858.1
442.3
-68.0
1,232.4

13
13
5
2
2
1
7
4
4

3
1
3
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Statement of changes in equity for the period

Amounts in NOK million

Equity as at 31.12.2017
Gross effect of IFRS 9 implementation
1.1.2018
Tax effect of IFRS 9 implementation
1.1.2018
Adjusted equity as at 1.1.2018
Changes deriving from profit or loss:
Profit after tax
Changes deriving from transactions with
owners:
Share capital increase
Other changes recognized in equity
Changes in equity due to share options
program
Paid interest on Tier 1 capital
Equity as at 31.12.2018
Changes deriving from profit or loss:
Profit after tax
Changes deriving from transactions with
owners:
Share capital increase
Other changes recognized in equity
Changes in equity due to share options
program
Paid interest on Tier 1 capital
Equity as at 31.12.2019

Share capital

Share
premium
reserve

Tier 1 capital

Other
paid-in
equity

Retained
earnings

Total Equity

171.4

771.9

44.6

35.5

378.4

1,401.7

-

-

-

-

-157.8

-157.8

-

-

-

-

39.4

39.4

171.4

771.9

44.6

35.5

260.1

1,283.4

-

-

-

-

331.1

331.1

1.3

-

-

-

-

1.3

-

-

-

6.8

-

6.8

172.7

771.9

44.6

42.2

-2.7
588.4

-2.7
1,619.8

-

-

-

-

202.9

202.9

11.4

14.8

-

-

-

26.2

-

-

-

3.6

-

3.6

184.1

786.7

44.6

45.8

-2.9
788.4

-2.9
1,849.5
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Note 1 Accounting principles
At the end of 2019, Komplett Bank offered consumer loans,

credit cards and high-interest accounts to private individuals in

Norway and consumer loans and credit cards to private individuals in Finland and Sweden. The Bank also offers point of sales

finance products in Norway and Sweden in collaboration with the
Komplett Group. The Bank offers deposit products to German

customers and have launched a deposit product to Swedish customers in Q1 2020. The company is headquartered at Vollsveien
2, 1366 Lysaker.

The financial statements for 2018 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
approved by the European Union.

Unless otherwise directly indicated in the notes, amounts are
stated in NOK millions.

1. Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities mainly cover loans to and deposits
with credit institutions, loans to customers, certificates and bonds,
other receivables, subordinated loans, senior unsecured bond,
other debt and deposits from and debt to customers. Financial
instruments are recognised in the balance sheet on the date the
Bank will become party to the instrument’s contractual terms.
Loans to customers are recognised in the financial position at the
time when the loan is paid out to the customer. Financial assets are
derecognised when the Bank’s rights to receive cash flows from the
asset cease. Financial liabilities are derecognised from the date the
rights to the contractual terms are fulfilled, expired or cancelled.

1a. Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities covering deposits from and debt to customers,
subordinated loans, other debt and senior unsecured bond are
recognised on initial recognition at fair value less any transaction
costs on establishment. In subsequent periods, the liabilities are
measured at amortised cost in accordance with the effective
interest method (internal rate of return), and the difference
between two periods is recognised through profit or loss under
the item interest expenses.
1b. Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are classed in one of the
categories pursuant to the table below, depending on the Bank’s
business model for management of the financial assets and the
hallmarks of the financial assets contractual cash flow.
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Category
according to
IFRS 9

At fair value
through profit
or loss

Key financial
assets

Criterion for classification in the category and
accounting treatment for such assets

Certificates
and bonds

The category mainly applies to financial assets classed as held for trading. The instrument will be classed
as held for trading where it has been acquired or assumed with the purpose of a short-term sale.
The portfolio of certificates and bonds is classed in this category as these items are controlled and
valued based on fair value in accordance with the Bank’s established guidelines for investments in
certificates and bonds.
On initial recognition of assets in this category, the assets are measured at fair value. In subsequent
periods, assets are measured at fair value, with any changes in value being recognised in the
accounting line net gains/losses on certificates and bonds, and currency.
Income from interest on certificates and bonds is presented in the income statement under interest income.
Financial instruments at fair value are placed in the different levels below based on the quality of market
data for the individual type of instrument. The levels reflect the hierarchy that prevails in IFRS on how
to measure fair value. In the events that input data from level 1 are available, this should be used rather
than input from level 2 and 3. Level 3 is the lowest level of the hierarchy.
Level 1: Valuation based on listed prices in an active market
Financial instruments valued using listed prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities are
placed in level 1. This category includes government bonds and bonds with pre-emption rights traded
in active markets.
Level 2: Valuation based on observable market data
Financial instruments valued using information where prices are directly or indirectly observable for the
assets or liabilities are placed in level 2. This category includes government bond funds.
Level 3: Valuation based on non-observable market data
If a valuation cannot be established in levels 1 or 2, valuation methods are used that are based on nonobservable market data.

Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost

Loans and
deposits
with credit
institutions
Loans to
customers
Other
receivables

Financial assets which are held in a business model whose object is to hold financial assets in order
to receive contractually regulated cash flows having contractual terms that lead at specific times
to cash flows which solely constitute the payment of the principal and outstanding interest on the
principal, shall be measured at amortised cost unless decisions intrinsic to the company would lead to
measurements at fair value over profit and loss.
Loans to customers, which mostly consist of framework loans and credit card receivables are
measured at amortised cost. Upon initial recognition, the asset’s fair value is the amortised cost
(normally the acquisition cost) plus transaction costs which are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issuing of the financial asset. In subsequent periods, the amortised cost is the value upon initial
recognition with the inclusion of capitalised interest net of received cash flows, with the addition
or subtraction for changes in the net present value of expected contractual cash flows and net of
recorded losses on loans.
The effective interest rate is the interest rate which discounts the loan’s contractual cash flows
(interest, repayments and fees) over the expected term to the loan’s amortised cost at the time of the
establishment.
For assets that are not credit impaired, the effective interest is calculated at the asset’s book value
before provisions for loan losses. For credit impaired assets, the effective interest rate is computed on
the asset’s book value (amortised cost).
The Bank considers that a loan or a claim on a client is credit impaired when the loan is more than 90
days past due on the balance sheet date, has been transferred to a debt collection agency (DCA) for
recovery, the client is deceased or there is suspicion of fraud. Such exposures are categorised as loans
in stage 3.
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Category
according to
IFRS 9

Key financial
assets

Criterion for classification in the category and
accounting treatment for such assets

The Bank will remove a loan from its balance sheet when the rights to the cash flows have expired,
normally as a consequence of the client paying principal and interest, but also as a sale to a third party.
The Bank will also remove a loan (or a part thereof) with the according loan loss provisions from the
balance sheet when the Bank does not have a reasonable expectation to recover the loan (or part
thereof). The Bank categorises such a removal from the balance sheet as a realised loss.
The Bank will, upon bankruptcy or a legal judgement, record a credit loss as a realised loss. This also
applies to those cases where the Bank has ended recovery activities or relinquished parts or the entire
exposure. Such cases have been considered immaterial for 2018 and 2019.
Realised loan losses are derecognised in the Bank’s accounts. Loans that have been sold as a
consequence of portfolio sales are derecognised in the accounts, and differences originating from
settlements that are lower than the gross amount leads to the Bank recognising a realised losses.
The Bank will make provisions for losses on assets that are measures at amortised cost. For assets
not having exhibited a significant increase in credit risk (loans in stage 1), the Bank will make provisions
for expected losses from default which may arise in the lesser of the asset’s expected life time or 12
months from balance sheet date. For other assets (stage 2 and stage 3), the Bank will make provisions
for expected losses over the asset’s expected remaining life time. The Bank has defined lifetime as the
expected time horizon for default or full repayment of principal and interest, whichever occurs first.
The Bank considers changes in the risk of default since initial recognition as decisive for assessing
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. The Bank considers a loan to be defaulted when
it is 90 days or more past due, if the loan has been transferred to a DCA for recovery, if the client is
deceased or if there is a suspicion of fraud. The model employed by the Bank to calculate loan losses
includes, inter alia, the probability of default (PD), discount rate, exposure at the time of default (EAD)
and loss given default (LGD).
The Bank utilises various indicators to consider whether an asset has been subject to a significant
increase in credit risk. Such information is based on the actual behaviour of the client, where Komplett
Bank has established set of rules that are identified as indicators for significant increase in credit risk.
Examples of such rules include a high utilisation of credit limits combined with the loan being past due,
new clients not paying their first invoice (”straight rollers”), and loans that in the past have been 30 days
or more past due and that again are past due. All cases where the loan is more than 30 days past due
are defined as a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition.
Transitions among stages 1, 2 and 3:
A loan that at balance sheet date is more than 90 days past due, will be transferred to a DCA within
a few working days. It is not possible for loans that have been sent to a DCA to be transferred back
to stage 1 or 2, and such exposures will hence remain in stage 3 until they have been repaid or
derecognised. Loans that are 90 days or more past due on the balance sheet date and where the client
repays before being transferred to the DCA, an amount which is at least equivalent to the minimum
payment, will have the possibility for a subsequent transfer to stage 2 or 1. Loans that previously have
been at least 30 days past due in relation to a previously agreed payment plan, and that again are past
due, will remain quarantined in stage 2 for three months. The quarantining does not restrict the loan
from being transferred to stage 3 whilst in quarantine. Recovery from stage 2 to 1 will otherwise happen
for those loans where at least one minimum payment has been made.
Description of the model for calculating expected credit losses
and the Bank’s calculation of PD, EAD and LGD:
The Bank calculates the PD by using historical data based on the client’s actual behaviour. The Bank
has categorised its exposures into segments that the Bank considers sharing the same credit risk
profile. Each of these segments is monitored using monthly snapshots where each loan is monitored
over the segment’s defined life time. For stage 1, the life time is limited to 12 months, while the
lifetime may extend beyond this in stage 2 as the Bank here uses the PD for the lifetime. Whilst being
monitored, it is then decided whether the loan is defaulted, and this is taken into consideration for the
Bank’s probability calculations. The Bank has decided to use up to 24 data points for its assessment
of PD. The Bank is updating its parameters for PD at least once per quarter. For new products, or for
products with limited data points, the Bank will be using existing products with similar characteristics in
order to extrapolate missing data points. The representativeness of the underlying data going forward
is continually evaluated by the Bank’s management.
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Category
according to
IFRS 9

Key financial
assets

Criterion for classification in the category and
accounting treatment for such assets

The Bank has in Q4 2019 revised its methodology for estimating LGD, by switching from an LGD based on
portfolio sales to third parties, to applying expected future cash flows from defaulted loans. These expected
cash flows are based on the Bank’s own records to the extent that this is available as well as estimates
from third parties with experience from similar portfolios. The Bank has decided to apply expected
repayments for 15 years from the time of default. Given the Bank’s relatively short track history and limited
experience data, there will be some degree of uncertainty for the cash flow estimates. The present value
of the cash flows is computed by discounting these with the exposures’ effective interest rates. The loss
is then computed as the difference between the book value of the asset at the time of defaulting and the
discounted value of the future expected cash flows. In 2020, the Bank entered into a forward flow agreement
for the sale of defaulted consumer loans Norway. The terms of the agreement stipulate that 80% of the
remaining balance at 180 days after transfer to the DCA will be sold for a determined amount. The Bank has
considered the effects this agreement has on its expected cash flows when calculating delinquencies for
Norway as at 31 December 2019. The effects did not have a significant impact on the Bank’s calculation of
expected credit losses. The agreement has a duration of 12 months.
When calculating the expected credit losses in stage 1 and 2, the Bank is discounting these losses to the
balance sheet date, using the effective interest rate as the discount rate. The Bank is estimating the time
for when the expected loss is foreseen to take place in order to determine the duration of the discounting.
The Bank’s exposure at the time of default is in the model restricted to concern the loans that are not
past due. The Bank revokes automatically unutilised credit lines once the loan is past due. For loans
not being past due, the Bank is estimating expected credit limit utilisation based on historical data. This
applies to all products where the client has the possibility to draw on unutilised credit limits.
The Bank is also applying forward looking elements for its credit loss model. The Bank’s overall losses are
adjusted by considering a certain set of macro-economic variables. The credit losses are adjusted on a
portfolio basis, and are based on the expected development of the economies in the countries in which
the Bank is offering loans. The macro-economic variables are not utilised to transfer loans among the
various stages. The Bank is applying three sets of indicators from OECD to the expected credit loss models
for the respective countries: 1) the expected development in the unemployment rate, 2) the growth in the
gross domestic product and 3) the short-term interest rate level. The Bank applies three scenarios when
considering the macro-economic adjustment: a positive outlook, a neutral outlook and a negative outlook.
The Bank assigns a probability and weight to these scenarios based on the expectations for the macroeconomic situation. There is uncertainty related to the estimates as they are forward-looking.
The Bank considers that the Norwegian macro-economic variables are favourable, and has on that basis
determined an adjustment of the losses with a factor of 87%. The Finnish variables are also considered
as being positive for the Bank’s credit loss levels and are adjusted with a factor 92%. The Bank considers
that the Swedish outlook is somewhat weaker, and has as a consequence increased the expected credit
losses with a factor of 123%. In 2018, the Bank applied a factor of 95% for all of its products.
The Bank has developed and implemented a set of internal control measures that contributes to
validate the input data which are used in the impairment model. The Bank will in 2020 work further on
implementing validation tools in order to ensure that the estimates and conditions on which the model
is based, work as intended.
The Bank does not use the simplification rules for loss impairment for which the IFRS 9 framework
allows. This means that the Bank does not use the exemption for low credit risk or simplifications linked
to 12-month probability of default (PD).
Losses on loans in the statement of profit and loss
In the statement profit and loss, the item Losses on loans consists of the book value of realized loan losses, the
difference between the book value and the real value of the consideration for the sale (portfolio sale), payments
that are received on loans that have previously been impaired and changes to the impairments of loans.
The effect of IFRS 9 on capital adequacy
As of the date of implementation (1 January 2018), the effect of the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 was an
increase in loss impairments of NOK 157.8 million. After tax effects, this resulted in a reduction in equity of
NOK 118.4 million. Komplett Bank has not restated the comparative figures to conform to the IFRS 9 standard.
The Bank uses the transition rules published by the EU, which permit the gradual phasing-in of the effects that
IFRS 9 will have on the Bank’s capital adequacy. In 2018, 5% of the transitional effect was recognised in line
with the transitional rules and a further 10% in 2019. The Bank expects an additional 15% of the transitional
effect to be recognised in 2020, while the corresponding figures for subsequent years are expected to be as
follows: 20% (2021) and 25% (2022). The transition rules will be fully phased in at the beginning of 2023.
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2. Fixed assets
Fixed assets are recognised at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairments. The cost includes
the purchase price of the asset and other directly attributable
costs, such as shipping expenses and non-refundable taxes and
purchase fees. Ordinary depreciation charges operating expenses
and appears on a separate line in the income statement, together
with depreciation of intangible assets. Depreciation is based on
the cost minus the expected residual value and allocated on a
straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. The
value of fixed assets is derecognised in the balance sheet on disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected
from using the asset or on disposal.

Expenses from in-house development are recognised in the

balance sheet to the extent that a future financial benefit attached
to the development of an identifiable intangible asset can be

identified and the expenses can be reliably measured. Otherwise,

these expenses are recognised as expenses on an ongoing basis.

value and the value in use. If the recoverable amount is lower than

4. Tax
4a. Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets are recognised in line
with IAS 12. Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets are calculated at a nominal rate based on temporary differences that exist
between the accounting and taxable values existing at the end of
the accounting period. Tax-increasing and tax-reducing temporary
differences that reverse or could be reversed in the same period
are set off and recognised net in the balance sheet. The applicable
rate of tax forming the basis for the calculation of deferred tax
liabilities/deferred tax assets is 25%.

recoverable amount. The impairment is reversed in cases where

Deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the

In cases where there are indications of an impairment of non-cur-

rent assets, the Bank will measure the non-current asset’s recover-

able amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the net sales
the carrying amount, the non-current asset is written down to the
the criteria for recognising an impairment are no longer present.
In no circumstances can the reversal lead to the asset’s value

extent it is probable that the asset will be realised at a future date.

exceeding the original cost price or the amount that would have

4b. Tax expense

original depreciation plan. Where the depreciation plan is changed,

to deferred tax and tax payable for the period. The tax expense

been recognised in the balance sheet if the asset had followed the
the effect is allocated over the remaining depreciation period. The
Bank’s fixed assets are depreciated from 0-5 years.

3. Other intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the
extent that it is probable that financial benefits will accrue to the
Bank in the future and these expenses can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet at cost
minus accumulated amortisation and any impairments. Cost
means the amount in cash or cash equivalents paid at the date
of acquisition or manufacture. Expenses relating to maintenance
of software, systems etc. are recognised as expenses on an
ongoing basis. Assets with a limited lifetime are amortised using
the straight-line method over the expected useful life from the
date when the asset is available for use. The Bank assess that
using straight-line depreciation is a systematic allocation of the
depreciable amount over the expected useful life of the asset. In
the case of intangible assets with a limited useful life, where there
are indications of impairment, the Bank carries out measurements
of the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the net sales value and value in use. If the recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying amount, the intangible asset
is written down to the recoverable amount. Intangible assets are
derecognised on disposal or when no further future economic
benefits are expected from using or disposing of the asset. The
Bank’s intangible assets are depreciated over 3 years.

The tax expense in the income statement includes both changes
also includes under- or over-provisions for tax payable relating to
previous periods.
4c. Tax payable

Tax payable for the current present and previous periods, to the
extent this has not been paid, is recognised as a liability. Tax

payable is tax calculated on the taxable profit for the year. The

applicable rate of tax forming the basis for the calculation of tax
payable is 25%. The tax rate is industry-specific. Tax on paid

interest that relates to Tier 1 capital is recognised against equity
and reduces the tax payable.

5. Pensions
The Bank is subject to the Compulsory Occupational Pensions
Act and has a pension plan that satisfies the statutory requirements. The Bank has a defined contribution plan that applies to
all employees. Contributions to the plan are paid on an ongoing
basis and, for this reason, no provision is made for future pension
liabilities at the end of the period.
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6. Currency
The Bank uses NOK as its presentation currency. Balance sheet
items in foreign currency are converted to NOK using the currency
exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Items in foreign currency
included in the income statement are converted to NOK using
the average exchange rate. Over the course of the year, the Bank
did not receive any significant revenue in any currency other than
NOK, SEK and EUR. The Bank also did not incur any significant
costs in any currency other than NOK, SEK and EUR. The Bank’s
functional currency is NOK. Currency exchange differences that
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as of 31.12.2019
equalled NOK 8.0 million in cost. The Bank’s currency exposure as
at 31.12.2019 is EUR 7.7 million and SEK 32.6 million.
7. Estimates
The estimation of valuation items and discretionary valuations is
based on the Bank’s historical experience and likely expectations
of future events. The Bank regards loss provisions as described in
item 1 as a central valuation item where discretionary valuations
also act as a basis.
8. Business areas
The Bank views its business as a collective business area. The
business area is linked to unsecured financing and as at 31
December 2019 consisted of three loan products (credit card and
loans, and POS solutions in cooperation with the Komplett Group)
and deposit products for Norwegian and German customers.
In 2018, all business were directed at the Norwegian, Swedish
and Finnish markets and there was no significant differentiation
connected with regular monitoring, management and controls
in the Bank’s geographical business areas. The management of
the Bank also calls for uniform reporting of business areas. The
company’s top management is the Bank’s Board of Directors. The
disclosures presented in Note 2 under the headline “information
on products and geographical distributions” are the same as used
for internal management.

9. Statement of cash flow
The statement of cash flow has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank deposits.
10. Share-based remuneration
Options value for the granted options are established based on
the full market value calculated using observed trading prices
at the grant date and Black & Scholes’s option pricing model.
Risk-free interest, using 5-year government bonds, is used as
a prerequisite in the calculation. The fixed price for exercising
the positions is NOK 1 for all outstanding options. In the case of
options granted in 2015 and later, there is also a variable price
for exercising the positions, which is equivalent to the employer’s
contribution at the date of exercise. The value of vested options is
recognised in other paid-in equity.
11. Leasing agreements
IFRS 16 - Leases is a new standard that entered into force from
1 January 2019 and replaced IAS 17 Leases. The new standard
removes the distinction between operating and finance leases for
the lessee and is a model to be used for all leases with individual
specific exceptions. Assets are depreciated over the lease term,
while the commitment is measured at the present value of agreed,
not paid lease. Leases will be treated as financial instruments
included in the scope of application of IFRS 9 for impairments. See
note 23 for further information on the Bank’s leasing agreements.
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Note 2 Loans to customers
LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross loans to customers
Gross loans to customers
Impairment of loans to customers
Net loans to customers

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

9,305.9
9,305.9
810.1
8,495.8

8,316.0
8,316.0
471.6
7,844.3

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

1,284.9
493.6
791.3
316.5

839.7
268.8
570.9
202.8

DEFAULTS AND LOSSES
NOK million

Gross defaulted loans to customers 1)
Impairment of loans to customers in class 3
Net defaulted loans to customers
Impairments of loans to customers in class 1 and 2
1)

Defaulted loans is defined as all loans to customers that are more than 90 days past due at the reporting date or that previously have been sent to collection.
Defaulted loans also comprise of known fraud cases and loans where customer is deceased.

REALIZED LOSSES
NOK million

Realized losses in the period

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

115.8

70.1

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

268.8
224.8
493.6

123.9
144.9
268.8

IMPAIRMENT OF CLASS 3 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS (BALANCE SHEET ITEM)
NOK million

Impairment of loans at beginning of period
+/- Change in class 3 impairment of loans in the period
Impairment of class 3 loans to customers
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IMPAIRMENT OF CLASS 1 AND 2 OF LOANS (BALANCE SHEET ITEM)
NOK million

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

202.8
113.7
316.5

11.0
157.8
34.1
202.8

Impairment of loans at beginning of period
Change in impairments recognised against equity due to implementation of IFRS 9
+/- Change in impairment on class 1 and class 2 of loans to customers in the period
Impairment on class 1 and 2 of loans to customers

The Bank has for extensive parts of 2018 and 2019 been part of an agreement with Axactor to continuously transfer defaulted loans

to customers in a forward flow agreement. The agreement included Norwegian consumer loans and credit card loans. The agreement

expired November 2019. In 2019 there has been transferred gross loans to customers of NOK 776 million to Axactor (NOK 453 million in
2018). The bank has recognised a positive effect in losses on loans due to the transfer of loans to customers.

100% of loans to customers is to private customer as at 31 December 2019 (100% as at 31 December 2018).
The Bank has not issued any guarantees as at 31 December 2019 (none as at 31 December 2018).

Of the Bank’s financial assets, only loans to customers have, in the opinion of the Bank, been impaired and consequently, no impairments
have been recognised for other financial assets.

RECONCILIATION OF LOSSES ON LOANS
NOK million

+/- Change in class 3 impairment of loans in the period
+/- Change in impairment on class 1 and 2 of loans to customers in the period
Realized losses in the period
Losses on loans

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

224.8
113.7
115.8
454.3

144.9
34.1
70.1
249.0

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

6,055.7
1,321.2
449.4
196.8
1,282.8
9,305.9

5,891.3
1,065.5
352.3
196.8
810.2
8,316.0

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

65%
14%
5%
2%
14%
100%

71%
13%
4%
2%
10%
100%

AGEING OF LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Loans not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due 91+ days
Total gross loans to customers

AGEING OF LOANS IN PRECENTAGE OF TOTALT GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Loans not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due 91+ days
Total
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RISK CLASSES
NOK million

Established loans Norway risk class A
New loans Norway risk class A
Established loans Norway risk class B
New loans Norway risk class B
Established loans Norway risk class C
New loans Norway risk class C
Established loans Norway risk class D
New loans Norway risk class D
Established credit card loans risk class A
New credit card loans risk class A
Established credit card loans risk class B
New credit card loans risk class B
Established credit card loans risk class C
New credit card loans risk class C
Established credit card loans risk class D
New credit card loans risk class D
Loan Finland risk class A
Loan Finland risk class B
Loan Finland risk class C
Loan Finland risk class D
Pos Finance risk class A
Pos Finance risk class B
Pos Finance risk class C
Loans Sweden risk class A
Loans Sweden risk class B
Loans Sweden risk class C
Loans Sweden risk class D
New credit card loans Sweden risk class A
New credit card loans Sweden risk class B
New credit card loans Sweden risk class C
New credit card loans Sweden risk class D
New credit card loans Finland risk class A
New credit card loans Finland risk class B
New credit card loans Finland risk class C
New credit card loans Finland risk class D
Total

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Horizon

Interval of PD

27%
5%
4%
1%
1%
0%
5%
0%
5%
0%
2%
0%
0%
0%
1%
0%
22%
3%
1%
5%
4%
1%
1%
10%
1%
0%
2%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
100%

35%
8%
6%
1%
1%
0%
5%
0%
6%
1%
2%
0%
0%
0%
2%
0%
18%
2%
0%
2%
3%
1%
0%
5%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
100%

12 months
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
12 months
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime
12 months
Lifetime
Lifetime
Lifetime

4.5% - 6.2%
8.6%
49.6% - 54.3%
72.2%
71.2% - 76.6%
85.5%
100.0%
100.0%
0.0% - 6.9%
0.0% - 8.0%
36.6%
44.6%
73.5%
83.6%
100.0%
100.0%
7.9% - 12.9%
55.2% - 61.1%
85.7% - 91.2%
100.0%
8.0%
44.6%
100.0%
7.9%
55.2%
85.7%
100.0%
0.0% - 8.0%
44.6%
83.6%
100.0%
0.0% - 8.0%
44.6%
83.6%
100.0%

The ratios shown as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 in the table above shows the distribution of each risk class in
percentage of gross loans to customers.
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MAXIMUM EXPOSURE FOR LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AS AT 31.12.2019
NOK million

Credit risk rating grade
Established loans Norway risk class A
New loans Norway risk class A
Established loans Norway risk class B
New loans Norway risk class B
Established loans Norway risk class C
New loans Norway risk class C
Established loans Norway risk class D
New loans Norway risk class D
Established credit card loans risk class A
New credit card loans risk class A
Established credit card loans risk class B
New credit card loans risk class B
Established credit card loans risk class C
New credit card loans risk class C
Established credit card loans risk class D
New credit card loans risk class D
Loan Finland risk class A
Loan Finland risk class B
Loan Finland risk class C
Loan Finland risk class D
Pos Finance risk class A
Pos Finance risk class B
Pos Finance risk class C
Loans Sweden risk class A
Loans Sweden risk class B
Loans Sweden risk class C
Loans Sweden risk class D
New credit card loans Sweden risk class A
New credit card loans Sweden risk class B
New credit card loans Sweden risk class C
New credit card loans Sweden risk class D
New credit card loans Finland risk class A
New credit card loans Finland risk class B
New credit card loans Finland risk class C
New credit card loans Finland risk class D
Total maximum exposure for loans to customers

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

3,839.2
749.7
1,161.9
30.9
2,434.6
368.3
1,115.5
244.3
9.5
9,953.9

396.1
84.1
65.3
16.0
181.8
3.0
20.5
0.3
238.5
54.1
65.0
82.1
18.2
0.7
0.1
0.3
0.0
1,226.2

452.3
36.9
135.7
0.6
453.5
73.5
172.4
0.1
0.0
1,325.1

Maximum exposures for loans to customers include both drawn and undrawn credit facilities.

Komplett Bank Annual Report 2019

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE FOR LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AS AT 31.12.2018
NOK million

Credit risk rating grade
Established loans Norway risk class A
New loans Norway risk class A
Established loans Norway risk class B
New loans Norway risk class B
Established loans Norway risk class C
New loans Norway risk class C
Established loans Norway risk class D
New loans Norway risk class D
Established credit card loans risk class A
New credit card loans risk class A
Established credit card loans risk class B
New credit card loans risk class B
Established credit card loans risk class C
New credit card loans risk class C
Established credit card loans risk class D
New credit card loans risk class D
Loan Finland risk class A
Loan Finland risk class B
Loan Finland risk class C
Loan Finland risk class D
Pos Finance risk class A
Pos Finance risk class B
Pos Finance risk class C
Loans Sweden risk class A
Loans Sweden risk class B
Loans Sweden risk class C
Loans Sweden risk class D
New credit card loans Sweden risk class A
New credit card loans Sweden risk class B
New credit card loans Sweden risk class C
New credit card loans Sweden risk class D
New credit card loans Finland risk class A
New credit card loans Finland risk class B
New credit card loans Finland risk class C
New credit card loans Finland risk class D
Total maximum exposure for loans to customers

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

4,373.7
938.2
1,268.0
115.8
1,683.2
265.3
460.8
9,105.0

521.1
117.2
81.2
26.7
194.4
9.8
24.0
1.1
130.2
36.0
50.7
152.4
12.3
1,357.2

443.0
26.1
147.5
1.0
196.9
22.4
32.4
869.4

Maximum exposures for loans to customers include both drawn and undrawn credit facilities.
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2019

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

6,313.2

1,158.2

844.6

8,316.0

-430.7
-48.0
251.4
0.1
886.5
-538.4
6,434.1

430.7
-176.5
0.7
-251.4
57.9
-119.4
1,100.1

48.0
176.5
-0.7
-0.1
14.8
-214.3
868.9

959.2
-872.1
8,403.2

-401.4
-50.8
218.6
0.9
925.7
-484.1
6,643.0

401.4
-145.7
0.6
-218.6
75.7
-173.3
1,040.2

50.8
145.7
-0.6
-0.9
16.1
-124.9
955.2

1,017.5
-782.3
8,638.4

-482.7
-50.4
236.0
1.2
967.6
-489.2
6,825.6

482.7
-173.6
1.8
-236.0
78.0
-109.5
1,083.6

50.4
173.6
-1.8
-1.2
19.2
-134.7
1,060.6

1,064.8
-733.4
8,969.8

-533.0
-73.2
153.2
1.0
964.5
-497.2
6,840.8

533.0
-260.6
1.5
-153.2
72.9
-97.0
1,180.2

73.2
260.6
-1.5
-1.0
21.2
-128.2
1,284.9

1,058.5
-722.4
9,305.9
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2018

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

4,386.5

804.8

404.6

5,595.8

-328.9
-9.9
157.8
1.4
1,026.5
-409.7
4,823.7

328.9
-187.8
-157.8
105.9
-44.7
849.3

9.9
187.8
-1.4
3.7
-24.0
580.6

1,136.2
-478.4
6,253.6

-361.5
-28.0
198.8
0.7
1,340.0
-429.7
5,544.0

361.5
-154.6
-198.8
154.1
-96.0
915.5

28.0
154.6
-0.7
7.6
-51.5
718.6

1,501.7
-577.2
7,178.1

-410.4
-29.1
205.5
0.1
1,256.7
-455.6
6,111.1

410.4
-102.3
-205.5
145.1
-138.1
1,025.2

29.1
102.3
-0.1
2.1
-100.1
751.9

1,403.9
-693.8
7,888.2

-541.8
-52.1
210.5
1.0
1,122.6
-538.1
6,313.2

541.8
-143.5
0.6
-210.5
129.7
-185.2
1,158.2

52.1
143.5
-0.6
-1.0
32.9
-134.1
844.6

1,285.1
-857.4
8,316.0
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS NORWAY
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2019

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

3,578.0

667.6

446.4

4,692.0

-249.1
-31.7
137.8
-0.1
258.3
-249.9
3,443.2

249.1
-70.3
-0.0
-137.8
13.9
-95.5
627.1

31.7
70.3
0.0
0.1
11.6
-134.9
425.2

283.8
-480.3
4,495.6

-192.4
-29.6
131.7
0.3
223.5
-206.6
3,370.1

192.4
-38.4
0.1
-131.7
30.3
-139.3
540.5

29.6
38.4
-0.1
-0.3
5.4
-85.0
413.2

259.2
-431.0
4,323.8

-235.9
-25.9
143.1
0.5
131.5
-162.1
3,221.4

235.9
-51.8
-0.5
-143.1
3.6
-82.1
502.4

25.9
51.8
0.5
-0.5
4.1
-83.3
411.7

139.2
-327.6
4,135.4

-226.9
-38.0
61.2
0.2
100.8
-134.5
2,984.2

226.9
-98.5
-0.8
-61.2
7.6
-52.5
523.9

38.0
98.5
0.8
-0.2
8.3
-79.4
477.7

116.8
-266.4
3,985.8
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS NORWAY
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2018

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

2,928.5

535.3

276.8

3,740.7

-187.9
-0.4
93.3
1.4
554.5
-201.4
3,188.1

187.9
-122.4
-93.3
65.7
-30.5
542.7

0.4
122.4
-1.4
1.8
-16.4
383.6

621.9
-248.3
4,114.3

-226.6
-14.5
127.0
0.7
698.8
-182.0
3,591.6

226.6
-71.8
-127.0
97.4
-78.4
589.5

14.5
71.8
-0.7
5.7
-21.5
453.2

801.8
-281.9
4,634.3

-224.9
-13.2
141.8
0.1
453.5
-168.8
3,780.1

224.9
-36.1
-141.8
77.8
-109.4
604.8

13.2
36.1
-0.1
3.2
-61.2
444.4

534.5
-339.4
4,829.3

-332.6
-33.0
115.7
1.0
193.1
-146.3
3,578.0

332.6
-40.2
0.1
-115.7
50.9
-164.9
667.6

33.0
40.2
-0.1
-1.0
4.4
-74.4
446.4

248.4
-385.7
4,692.0
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS FINLAND
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2019

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

1,482.9

166.0

198.6

1,847.5

-57.0
-9.2
24.7
221.4
-93.4
1,569.4

57.0
-46.7
-24.7
-1.0
-4.0
146.6

9.2
46.7
-3.8
250.7

220.4
-101.2
1,966.7

-78.7
-14.9
14.8
379.3
-93.1
1,776.9

78.7
-48.4
0.3
-14.8
11.1
-4.9
168.6

14.9
48.4
-0.3
2.0
-5.7
309.9

392.4
-103.7
2,255.4

-95.2
-15.8
17.5
365.4
-108.2
1,940.7

95.2
-49.7
1.6
-17.5
14.8
-5.7
207.2

15.8
49.7
-1.6
7.6
-7.6
373.8

387.8
-121.5
2,521.7

-145.3
-21.2
18.1
0.2
348.2
-126.9
2,013.8

145.3
-63.5
0.7
-18.1
22.1
-7.8
286.1

21.2
63.5
-0.7
-0.2
-0.9
-8.5
448.1

369.5
-143.2
2,748.0
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS FINLAND
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2018

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

891.8

56.1

38.8

-43.5
-7.7
9.4
208.0
-51.2
1,006.8

43.5
-17.9
-9.4
9.0
-2.1
79.2

7.7
17.9
0.8
-0.9
64.4

986.8
217.8
-54.2
1,150.3

-53.8
-9.5
10.7
210.3
-58.4
1,106.0

53.8
-31.8
-10.7
8.4
-2.5
96.5

9.5
31.8
0.3
-1.3
104.7

219.1
-62.2
1,307.2

-52.0
-7.9
10.8
304.6
-66.8
1,294.8

52.0
-31.6
-10.8
17.3
-2.8
120.6

7.9
31.6
-1.7
-0.7
141.8

320.3
-70.3
1,557.2

-87.4
-11.9
18.1
353.4
-84.1
1,482.9

87.4
-39.3
0.1
-18.1
21.0
-5.7
166.0

11.9
39.3
-0.1
10.4
-4.7
198.6

384.8
-94.5
1,847.5
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS SWEDEN
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2019

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

414.6

64.9

29.6

509.1

-33.1
-5.4
16.0
214.0
-38.2
568.0

33.1
-19.9
-16.0
6.5
-2.1
66.4

5.4
19.9
-1.1
53.8

220.5
-41.4
688.2

-37.7
-4.2
5.9
157.5
-41.3
648.2

37.7
-27.4
-5.9
14.4
-2.7
82.5

4.2
27.4
-0.5
-0.3
84.7

171.4
-44.3
815.4

-42.7
-7.0
15.1
0.3
262.9
-55.3
821.5

42.7
-31.6
0.2
-15.1
20.8
-3.4
96.2

7.0
31.6
-0.2
-0.3
1.2
-1.5
122.5

285.0
-60.2
1,040.1

-45.1
-11.2
20.6
186.9
-56.6
916.0

45.1
-34.8
0.3
-20.6
11.0
-3.7
93.6

11.2
34.8
-0.3
0.6
-1.0
167.6

198.5
-61.4
1,177.3
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS SWEDEN
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2018

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

-

-

-

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

-0.0
-0.0

0.0
0.0

128.6
128.7

25.8
25.8

-0.1
-0.1

154.3
154.4

-11.1
-2.7
11.5
165.1
-9.1
282.4

11.1
-7.6
-11.5
23.3
-0.4
40.7

2.7
7.6
-0.7
9.4

187.8
-9.5
332.6

-33.9
-5.5
13.3
181.4
-23.1
414.6

33.9
-14.1
0.4
-13.3
19.0
-1.8
64.9

5.5
14.1
-0.4
1.7
-0.7
29.6

202.1
-25.6
509.1
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CREDIT CARD LOAN CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2019

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

558.6

205.5

145.9

910.0

-73.4
-1.5
54.8
104.9
-85.8
557.6

73.4
-38.8
-54.8
20.0
-10.8
194.6

1.5
38.8
1.1
-73.3
114.0

126.1
-169.9
866.2

-71.2
-1.9
52.2
0.5
103.4
-81.1
559.5

71.2
-29.0
0.1
-52.2
15.9
-26.8
173.8

1.9
29.0
-0.1
-0.5
1.5
-33.7
112.2

120.8
-141.6
845.5

-90.0
-1.5
38.3
0.3
104.4
-75.9
535.2

90.0
-35.1
-38.3
18.1
-11.3
197.1

1.5
35.1
-0.3
0.9
-39.9
109.5

123.3
-127.1
841.7

-81.4
-2.4
35.4
0.3
124.2
-76.1
535.1

81.4
-55.3
0.1
-35.4
15.0
-13.0
189.8

2.4
55.3
-0.1
-0.3
1.7
-36.0
132.6

140.8
-125.0
857.6
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO CREDIT CARD LOAN CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2018

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

561.7

213.1

88.9

-97.5
-1.8
55.1
137.6
-81.9
573.2

97.5
-47.5
-55.1
29.5
-12.1
225.5

1.8
47.5
1.0
-6.6
132.5

863.7
168.1
-100.7
931.1

-71.3
-1.7
61.1
117.2
-84.1
594.5

71.3
-51.0
-61.1
20.8
-15.1
190.3

1.7
51.0
1.2
-28.7
157.7

139.1
-127.9
942.4

-103.4
-1.0
38.7
103.2
-83.1
548.8

103.4
-25.6
-38.7
25.3
-25.5
229.2

1.0
25.6
0.1
-38.2
146.2

128.6
-146.8
924.2

-79.8
-1.8
59.3
115.4
-83.3
558.6

79.8
-47.9
-59.3
19.8
-16.1
205.5

1.8
47.9
3.0
-52.9
145.9

138.1
-152.3
910.0
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO POS FINANCE CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2019

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

279.1

54.2

24.1

357.3

-18.0
-0.1
18.0
0.2
87.8
-71.1
295.9

18.0
-0.9
0.7
-18.0
18.5
-7.0
65.5

0.1
0.9
-0.7
-0.2
2.1
-1.2
25.1

108.4
-79.3
386.5

-21.5
-0.2
14.0
62.0
-61.9
288.3

21.5
-2.5
0.1
-14.0
4.0
0.3
74.9

0.2
2.5
-0.1
7.7
-0.2
35.2

73.7
-61.9
398.3

-19.0
-0.2
22.0
0.1
103.4
-87.7
306.9

19.0
-5.4
0.5
-22.0
20.8
-7.0
80.7

0.2
5.4
-0.5
-0.1
5.4
-2.4
43.2

129.6
-97.1
430.8

-34.3
-0.4
18.0
0.3
204.3
-103.1
391.7

34.3
-8.5
1.2
-18.0
17.1
-20.1
86.7

0.4
8.5
-1.2
-0.3
11.5
-3.2
58.9

232.9
-126.4
537.3
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RECONCILIATION OF GROSS LOANS TO POS FINANCE CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class1 to Class2
Transfer from Class1 to Class3
Transfer from Class2 to Class3
Transfer from Class3 to Class2
Transfer from Class2 to Class1
Transfer from Class3 to Class1
New assets
Assets derecognized
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2018

Class1

Class2

Class3

Total

4.5

0.2

0.0

126.4
-75.2
55.6

1.8
2.0

0.2
0.2

4.7
128.3
-75.2
57.8

-9.8
-2.4
185.0
-105.2
123.2

9.8
1.7
13.5

2.4
0.6
3.1

187.3
-105.2
139.9

-19.1
-4.3
2.7
230.2
-127.7
204.9

19.1
-1.3
-2.7
1.3

4.3
1.3
1.2

29.9

10.0

232.8
-127.7
244.9

-8.0
4.0
279.3
-201.2
279.1

8.0
-2.0
-4.0
19.0
3.3
54.2

2.0
13.4
-1.4
24.1

311.7
-199.3
357.3
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

102.1

100.8

268.8

471.6

-5.2
-0.6
18.3
0.0
16.1
-18.8
1.1
113.0

5.2
-23.8
0.2
-18.3
52.0
-14.0
0.8
102.8

0.6
23.8
-0.2
-0.0
41.0
-49.7
0.0
284.4

109.1
-82.4
1.9
500.2

-5.3
-0.7
16.1
0.6
13.3
-17.1
-10.9
109.1

5.3
-23.4
0.2
-16.1
50.1
-15.9
18.2
121.3

0.7
23.4
-0.2
-0.6
43.9
-32.6
-1.2
317.6

107.3
-65.6
6.1
548.0

-7.1
-0.9
23.1
1.2
17.9
-28.1
4.7
119.8

7.1
-29.3
0.6
-23.1
69.0
-14.9
1.6
132.4

0.9
29.3
-0.6
-1.2
42.0
-34.6
2.9
356.2

128.8
-77.6
9.1
608.3

-8.6
-1.3
16.3
0.6
18.7
-22.1
20.3
143.7

8.6
-40.9
0.7
-16.3
73.9
-14.4
28.8
172.8

1.3
40.9
-0.7
-0.6
78.1
-36.9
55.5
493.6

170.7
-73.4
104.5
810.1
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Estimate changes for the first quarter of 2019 relates in all materiality to changes in the Bank’s estimate of probability of default. Estimate
changes for the second quarter of 2019 relates amongst other to changes in the Bank’s estimate of loss given default, which resulted

in higher impairment equal to NOK 29 million. In the same quarter, the Bank also changed its estimate on exposure at default resulting in
NOK 25 million in lower impairments. Other estimate changes in this quarter mainly relates to changes in the estimate of probability of

default. The effects of estimate changes in the third quarter of 2019 mainly refers to estimate change on the probability of default. In the

fourth quarter of 2019 the Bank changed its method on how to estimate loss given default. The Bank went from using a method based on
expected sale prices from third parties to a method using expected cash flows based on incoming payments from defaulted customers.
The change in loss given default increased the impairments with NOK 96 million. The Bank also updated its estimates of discount factor,
resulting in an increase of NOK 7 million. Other estimate changes in the quarter relates to updating the probability of default and macro
adjustments, resulting in a respectively increase in impairments of NOK 2 million and a decrease in impairments of NOK 1 million.
RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2018

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

78.3

90.5

123.9

292.7

-4.8
-0.1
17.5
0.4
21.6
-26.5
-12.2
74.2

4.8
-24.9
-17.5
54.7
-8.4
-14.8
84.4

0.1
24.9
-0.4
37.7
-5.9
180.3

114.1
-40.7
-27.0
339.0

-4.6
-0.3
18.4
0.2
18.0
-18.4
-9.5
78.0

4.6
-20.0
-18.4
51.3
-7.7
-20.4
73.8

0.3
20.0
-0.2
32.3
-9.3
1.8
225.3

101.6
-35.5
-28.1
377.1
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF LOANS TO CUSTOMERS cont.
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2018

-4.6
-0.4
16.9
0.0
15.1
-16.9
12.5
100.6

4.6
-11.5
-16.9
45.5
-11.7
4.3
88.1

0.4
11.5
-0.0
33.5
-26.6
-0.2
243.8

94.1
-55.3
16.6
432.5

-7.1
-0.7
17.8
0.3
13.2
-19.0
-3.1
102.1

7.1
-16.0
0.2
-17.8
49.4
-15.4
5.2
100.8

0.7
16.0
-0.2
-0.3
38.4
-31.4
1.8
268.8

101.0
-65.8
3.9
471.6

Estimate changes in the first quarter of 2018 mainly relates to changes in loss given default. The effects of estimate changes in the

second quarter of 2018 relates to decreased impairments as a consequence of the agreement on forward sale of non-performing loans.
The effects of changing loss given default resulted in NOK 40 million in lower impairments. In the same quarter the probability of default

estimate was also updated, resulting in higher impairments of NOK 13 million. For the third and fourth quarter of 2018 effects of estimate
changes mainly derived from updating the estimate of probability of default.
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CONSUMER LOANS TO CUSTOMERS NORWAY
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

44.7

49.7

138.1

232.5

-2.2
-0.3
10.4
-0.0
0.4
-6.9
-1.6
44.5

2.2
-6.0
-0.0
-10.4
25.6
-7.9
-5.3
48.0

0.3
6.0
0.0
0.0
16.2
-28.8
-1.5
130.4

42.2
-43.5
-8.3
222.9

-0.7
-0.2
9.2
0.1
-1.8
-6.3
-4.8
40.0

0.7
-2.6
0.1
-9.2
17.5
-12.9
14.0
55.4

0.2
2.6
-0.1
-0.1
17.7
-21.6
0.9
130.1

33.4
-40.9
10.1
225.5

-1.7
-0.3
14.1
0.5
-2.7
-11.8
0.3
38.5

1.7
-4.3
-0.1
-14.1
24.7
-9.3
0.2
54.2

0.3
4.3
0.1
-0.5
15.5
-20.1
-0.2
129.4

37.5
-41.2
0.3
222.1

-2.0
-0.5
6.9
0.2
-5.3
-1.6
8.9
45.0

2.0
-12.5
0.1
-6.9
24.3
-7.8
18.9
72.4

0.5
12.5
-0.1
-0.2
37.2
-23.4
13.0
168.9

56.2
-32.8
40.8
286.3
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CONSUMER LOANS TO CUSTOMERS NORWAY
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2018

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

52.7

63.8

84.1

200.6

-2.8
-0.0
11.6
0.4
16.3
-20.0
-9.7
48.6

2.8
-17.0
-11.6
36.4
-7.7
-11.1
55.6

0.0
17.0
-0.4
22.0
-3.6
119.1

74.7
-31.3
-20.8
223.2

-2.6
-0.2
12.9
0.2
7.1
-10.8
-11.6
43.6

2.6
-10.3
-12.9
33.5
-7.0
-15.2
46.2

0.2
10.3
-0.2
16.1
-5.1
4.0
144.3

56.7
-22.9
-22.8
234.1

-1.7
-0.1
11.7
0.0
2.4
-9.1
1.6
48.4

1.7
-2.8
-11.7
25.0
-9.6
1.5
50.4

0.1
2.8
-0.0
14.8
-17.6
144.3

42.2
-36.4
3.2
243.1

-2.9
-0.3
10.1
0.3
-2.5
-7.6
-0.7
44.7

2.9
-3.2
0.0
-10.1
20.7
-13.7
2.6
49.7

0.3
3.2
-0.0
-0.3
13.1
-20.4
-2.1
138.1

31.3
-41.7
-8.7
232.5
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CONSUMER LOANS TO CUSTOMERS FINLAND
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

33.6

23.4

69.9

126.8

-1.2
-0.2
2.8
5.0
-2.8
2.0
39.1

1.2
-9.4
-2.8
9.8
-1.4
5.7
26.6

0.2
9.4
10.6
-2.4
1.0
88.7

25.4
-6.6
8.7
154.3

-1.8
-0.3
2.3
7.5
-2.5
-2.6
41.6

1.8
-10.4
0.1
-2.3
16.0
-0.9
0.6
31.6

0.3
10.4
-0.1
12.8
-1.8
-0.8
109.4

36.2
-5.1
-2.8
182.6

-2.2
-0.4
2.8
7.2
-4.4
2.3
46.9

2.2
-11.1
0.6
-2.8
18.8
-1.9
0.8
38.1

0.4
11.1
-0.6
13.0
-2.8
2.7
133.3

39.0
-9.1
5.7
218.3

-3.5
-0.5
2.9
0.2
7.7
-5.1
10.3
58.9

3.5
-13.9
0.4
-2.9
29.1
-2.0
10.5
62.8

0.5
13.9
-0.4
-0.2
16.5
-3.7
37.6
197.4

53.3
-10.8
58.3
319.1
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CONSUMER LOANS TO CUSTOMERS FINLAND
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2018

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

10.7

6.7

13.4

30.9

-0.5
-0.1
0.9
2.5
-1.1
12.5

0.5
-3.1
-0.9
7.2
-0.2
10.3

0.1
3.1
5.7
-0.6
21.7

15.4
-1.8
44.4

-0.7
-0.1
0.9
2.4
-0.9
5.2
19.3

0.7
-5.2
-0.9
8.2
-0.3
-1.1
11.7

0.1
5.2
9.6
-0.4
-2.3
33.8

20.2
-1.6
1.9
64.9

-0.9
-0.1
1.2
4.6
-1.2
7.8
30.8

0.9
-5.5
-1.2
8.5
-0.5
1.5
15.4

0.1
5.5
10.5
-0.3
-0.2
49.4

23.6
-1.9
9.1
95.6

-1.9
-0.3
2.1
5.3
-2.0
-0.4
33.6

1.9
-6.6
0.0
-2.1
12.9
-0.6
2.4
23.4

0.3
6.6
-0.0
11.9
-1.6
3.3
69.9

30.1
-4.2
5.3
126.8
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CONSUMER LOANS TO CUSTOMERS SWEDEN
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

10.3

10.6

12.2

33.1

-0.7
-0.1
2.3
4.7
-2.4
0.5
14.6

0.7
-4.3
-2.3
7.7
-0.4
0.4
12.3

0.1
4.3
4.7
-0.4
-1.7
19.2

17.0
-3.2
-0.8
46.1

-0.8
-0.1
0.9
3.4
-1.4
-2.0
14.7

0.8
-6.1
-0.9
10.0
-0.3
0.1
15.7

0.1
6.1
5.0
-0.0
-0.3
30.2

18.4
-1.8
-2.2
60.6

-1.0
-0.2
2.4
0.3
5.6
-3.5
0.8
19.1

1.0
-7.0
0.1
-2.4
11.1
-0.7
0.2
17.9

0.2
7.0
-0.1
-0.3
6.9
-0.5
0.4
43.7

23.7
-4.8
1.3
80.7

-1.0
-0.3
3.3
3.8
-4.0
7.6
28.5

1.0
-7.8
0.1
-3.3
9.3
-0.8
5.8
22.3

0.3
7.8
-0.1
9.0
-1.4
5.4
64.6

22.1
-6.2
18.8
115.4
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CONSUMER LOANS TO CUSTOMERS SWEDEN
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2018

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.9
-0.0
2.9

2.6
2.6

-

5.5
-0.0
5.5

-0.2
-0.0
1.2
3.0
-1.1
2.1
7.9

0.2
-0.7
-1.2
3.7
0.7
5.4

0.0
0.7
3.0
-0.0
0.0
3.7

9.7
-1.1
2.9
17.0

-0.8
-0.1
1.6
3.7
-1.5
-0.5
10.3

0.8
-2.2
0.1
-1.6
6.3
-0.1
2.0
10.6

0.1
2.2
-0.1
5.9
-0.2
0.6
12.2

15.8
-1.7
2.1
33.1
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CREDIT CARD LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

8.9

12.1

42.3

63.3

-0.7
-0.0
2.7
1.2
-2.8
0.2
9.4

0.7
-3.3
-2.7
5.5
-0.9
0.1
11.3

0.0
3.3
3.7
-17.1
2.1
34.4

10.3
-20.8
2.4
55.2

-0.7
-0.0
2.6
0.5
0.7
-3.3
-1.7
7.6

0.7
-2.7
0.1
-2.6
4.9
-1.6
3.0
13.0

0.0
2.7
-0.1
-0.5
4.6
-7.3
-1.1
32.7

10.2
-12.2
0.2
53.3

-1.0
-0.0
2.5
0.3
1.4
-3.3
1.2
8.7

1.0
-3.6
-2.5
8.5
-1.0
0.4
15.8

0.0
3.6
-0.3
3.9
-8.1
0.0
31.9

13.9
-12.3
1.6
56.5

-1.1
-0.0
2.4
0.3
2.1
-3.2
-3.0
6.1

1.1
-5.8
0.1
-2.4
7.1
-1.2
-3.8
10.8

0.0
5.8
-0.1
-0.3
11.3
-8.1
-0.6
40.2

20.5
-12.6
-7.4
57.1
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF CREDIT CARD LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2018

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

14.8

20.0

26.4

61.2

-1.5
-0.0
5.0
1.2
-4.7
-2.5
12.3

1.5
-4.9
-5.0
11.1
-0.5
-3.7
18.5

0.0
4.9
10.0
-1.7
39.6

22.4
-7.0
-6.2
70.5

-0.9
-0.0
4.6
1.1
-4.2
-3.0
9.7

0.9
-4.6
-4.6
6.5
-0.5
-4.0
12.3

0.0
4.6
6.6
-3.8
0.0
47.1

14.2
-8.5
-7.0
69.1

-1.0
-0.0
2.4
0.6
-2.3
0.4
9.9

1.0
-2.4
-2.4
6.6
-1.4
0.5
14.3

0.0
2.4
3.2
-8.7
43.9

10.4
-12.4
0.9
68.1

-0.8
-0.0
3.5
0.8
-3.2
-1.2
8.9

0.8
-3.7
-3.5
6.3
-0.5
-1.6
12.1

0.0
3.7
3.5
-8.8
42.3

10.6
-12.6
-2.8
63.3
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF POS FINANCE LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2019
Transfers in Q1 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2019
Transfers in Q2 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2019
Transfers in Q3 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2019
Transfers in Q4 2019:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2019

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

4.6

5.0

6.3

15.9

-0.4
-0.0
0.2
0.1
4.9
-3.9
5.4

0.4
-0.8
0.2
-0.2
3.4
-3.3
4.6

0.0
0.8
-0.2
-0.1
5.8
-1.0
11.7

14.1
-8.2
21.7

-1.4
-0.1
1.1
3.5
-3.6
0.3
5.2

1.4
-1.6
-1.1
1.8
-0.1
0.5
5.5

0.1
1.6
3.8
-1.9
15.2

9.1
-5.7
0.8
26.0

-1.3
1.3
6.4
-5.1
0.1
6.6

1.3
-3.2
0.1
-1.3
5.8
-1.9
0.1
6.4

3.2
-0.1
2.6
-3.1
17.8

14.8
-10.2
0.2
30.8

-1.0
0.8
10.5
-8.1
-3.5
5.2

1.0
-0.9
-0.8
4.0
-2.6
-2.6
4.5

0.9
4.1
-0.3
0.1
22.6

18.6
-11.1
-6.0
32.3
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RECONCILIATION OF IMPAIRMENTS OF POS FINANCE LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
NOK million

Impairment as at 01.01.2018
Transfers in Q1 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.03.2018
Transfers in Q2 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.06.2018
Transfers in Q3 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 30.09.2018
Transfers in Q4 2018:
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 1 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 3
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 2
Transfer from Class 2 to Class 1
Transfer from Class 3 to Class 1
New financial assets originated or change in provisions
Assets derecognized or change in provisions
Other changes
Impairment as at 31.12.2018

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Total

0.1

-

-

0.1

1.6
-0.7
0.9

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

1.6
-0.7
0.9

-0.4
-0.1
4.5
-2.4
-0.1
2.4

0.4
0.6
-0.1
1.0

0.1
0.1

5.1
-2.4
-0.2
3.4

-0.8
-0.1
0.4
4.5
-3.3
0.5
3.6

0.8
-0.2
-0.4
1.7
-0.3
0.1
2.7

0.1
0.2
2.1
2.5

8.3
-3.6
0.6
8.7

-0.7
0.6
6.0
-4.7
-0.3
4.6

0.7
-0.3
-0.6
3.2
-0.5
-0.2
5.0

0.3
4.0
-0.4
6.3

13.2
-5.6
-0.5
15.9
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS CHANGING PARAMETERS IN THE LOAN LOSS MODEL
Consumer loans
Norway

Finland

Sweden

Credit
cards

POS
Finance

Total

2.7
5.4
13.4

3.1
6.2
15.6

1.1
2.3
5.7

0.6
1.1
2.8

0.3
0.6
1.6

7.8
15.6
39.0

Sensitivity by changing probability of default
parameters at the end of 2019
Profit or loss effect at 1% change
Profit or loss effect at 2% change
Profit or loss effect at 5% change

1.4
2.8
7.1

1.2
2.4
6.1

0.5
1.0
2.5

0.2
0.3
0.8

0.1
0.2
0.5

3.4
6.8
17.1

Sensitivity by changing macro adjustments
at the end of 2019
Profit or loss effect at 1% change
Profit or loss effect at 2% change
Profit or loss effect at 5% change

1.2
2.3
5.9

1.2
2.4
6.1

0.5
1.0
2.5

0.2
0.3
0.8

0.1
0.2
0.5

3.2
6.3
15.8

NOK million

Sensitivity by changing loss given default
parameters at the end of 2019
Profit or loss effect at 1% change
Profit or loss effect at 2% change
Profit or loss effect at 5% change

Information on products and geographical distribution

Below comes information about income, cost, net loans to customers and impairments related to the different products the Bank is offering.
FOR 2019:
Consumer loans
POS
Finance

Not
allocated
product

Total

Norway

Finland

Sweden

Credit
cards

Income per product in 2019
Interest income
Income commissions and fees
Total

625.4
44.2
669.6

297.3
27.4
324.7

122.2
5.7
127.8

163.5
41.0
204.4

52.4
49.6
102.1

21.8
4.5
26.3

1,282.5
172.4
1,454.8

Selected costs per product 2019
Interest expenses
Expenses commissions and fees
Losses on loans
Total

82.5
22.5
142.4
247.5

43.8
33.4
189.6
266.9

16.4
8.8
79.4
104.6

16.4
24.7
26.5
67.7

8.0
24.3
16.4
48.7

-

167.2
113.8
454.3
735.3

3,699.5
3,699.5

2,428.9
2,428.9

1,061.8
1,061.8

800.5
800.5

505.0
505.0

-

8,495.8
8,495.8

286.3
286.3

319.1
319.1

115.4
115.4

57.1
57.1

32.3
32.3

-

810.1
810.1

NOK million

Loans per product per 31.12.2019
Loans to customers
Total
Impairment per product per 31.12.2019
Impairment
Total
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FOR 2018:
Consumer loans
POS
Finance

Not
allocated
product

Total

Norway

Finland

Sweden

Credit
cards

Income per product in 2018
Interest income
Income commissions and fees
Total

671.1
50.8
722.0

186.6
19.3
205.9

31.0
1.5
32.5

183.7
45.2
228.9

14.2
26.9
41.1

13.8
4.5
18.3

1,100.4
148.2
1,248.7

Selected costs per product 2018
Interest expenses
Expenses commissions and fees
Losses on loans
Total

88.1
32.7
85.3
206.1

27.4
16.9
96.0
140.3

4.2
1.7
33.1
39.0

18.1
16.1
18.8
53.0

3.4
6.8
15.9
26.2

-

141.3
74.2
249.0
464.5

4,459.5
4,459.5

1,720.7
1,720.7

476.0
476.0

846.7
846.7

341.4
341.4

-

7,844.3
7,844.3

232.5
232.5

126.8
126.8

33.1
33.1

63.3
63.3

15.9
15.9

-

471.6
471.6

NOK million

Loans per product per 31.12.2018
Loans to customers
Total
Impairment per product per 31.12.2018
Impairment
Total
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Note 3 Loans and deposits with credit institutions
NOK million

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

614.7

1,232.4

1.4
16.5
4.7

1.4
16.3
2.8

Risk weight

Book value

Fair value

0%
0%
10%

398.2
840.8
90.8
1,329.8

398.2
840.8
90.8
1,329.8

Risk weight

Book value

Fair value

0%
0%
10%

134.8
301.6
436.4

134.8
301.6
436.4

Loans and deposits with credit institutions
of which bound funds constitute;
Client funds (insurance brokering)
Other bound funds
Bound tax withholding funds

Note 4 Certificates and bonds
THE BANK’S SECURITIES ARE DISTRIBUTED AS FOLLOWS AS AT 31.12.2019
NOK million

Government certificates
Gvernment certificate funds
Bonds with pre-emptive rights
Total

THE BANK’S SECURITIES ARE DISTRIBUTED AS FOLLOWS AS AT 31.12.2018
NOK million

Government certificates
Gvernment certificate funds
Bonds with pre-emptive rights
Total

In 2019, the Bank achieved an effective weighted interest income rate of 0.74% (1.17% in 2018). This is calculated based on actual
interest income from certificated and bonds the last 12 months divided by the average monthly balance.
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Note 5 Intangible assets and fixed assets
NOK million

Fixtures and
fittings

Office
machines

Intangible
assets

Rigths
of use

Other

Total

1.5

0.5

83.5

-

-

85.4

0.4
1.9

0.5
1.0

67.5
151.0

-

0.2
0.2

68.6
153.8

0.7

0.3

26.7

-

-

27.7

0.3

0.1

28.3

-

-

28.7

1.0

0.4

55.0

-

-

56.3

0.9

0.6

96.0

-

0.2

97.7

1.9

1.0

151.0

-

0.2

153.8

0.4
2.3

0.1
1.1

98.6
249.6

19.4
19.4

0.2

118.6
272.6

1.0

0.4

55.0

-

-

56.4

0.3

0.2

51.3

3.8

-

55.6

1.3

0.6

106.3

3.8

-

111.9

1.0

0.5

143.3

15.6

0.2

160.6

5 years

3 years

5 years

See below

No
deprecation

Accumulated historical cost at
01.01.2018
Additions in the period
Disposals in the period
Historical cost at 31.12.2018
Accumulated depreciations at
01.01.2018
Annual depreciations 2018
Accumulated depreciations at
31.12.2018
Book value at 31.12.2018
Accumulated historical cost at
01.01.2019
Additions in the period
Disposals in the period
Historical cost at 31.12.2019
Accumulated depreciations at
01.01.2019
Annual depreciations 2019
Accumulated depreciations at
31.12.2019
Book value at 31.12.2019
Economic life

Other intangible assets and fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their lifetime. Intangible assets consist to a high
degree of IT systems and rights acquired and developed in-house. The rights of use assets relates to the Bank’s leasing agreements

and are depreciated over the length of the leasing agreement. No impairments have been recognised for other intangible assets or fixed
assets either in the previous or current period.
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Note 6 Shareholders
The face value of the company’s shares is NOK 1.00. All shares have the same share class and voting rights.
20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31.12.2019

Canica Invest AS
State Street Bank and Trust Comp
Alfab Holding AS
DnB NOR Bank ASA
UBS AG
Macama AS
Norda ASA
Sanden AS
Canopus
Om Holding AS
BNP Paribas Securities Services
Directmarketing Invest AS
Sniptind Invest AS
Goldman Sachs International
Torstein Ingvald Tvenge
Khaya AS
Fondsavanse AS
Dingja Invest AS
Bma Invest AS
Ursulf AS
Total 20 largest shareholders
Other shareholders
Total

Number
of shares

Ownership
in %

35,747 285
15,023 405
10,971 183
8,816 656
5,205 870
4,912 668
4,764 833
4,706 334
4,423 635
4,069 465
3,437 256
3,415 043
2,789 699
2,698 651
2,500 000
2,371 403
2,268 792
1,959 961
1,889 552
1,832 500
123,804 191
60,315 537
184,119 728

19.4%
8.2%
6.0%
4.8%
2.8%
2.7%
2.6%
2.6%
2.4%
2.2%
1.9%
1.9%
1.5%
1.5%
1.4%
1.3%
1.2%
1.1%
1.0%
1.0%
67.3%
32.7%
100.0%

Shareholder
structure

NOM
NOM

NOM
NOM

Country

NOR
USA
NOR
NOR
GBR
NOR
NOR
NOR
LUX
NOR
LUX
NOR
NOR
GBR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
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20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31.12.2018

Canica Invest AS
State Street Bank and Trust Comp
Alfab Holding AS
Macama AS
Sanden AS
BNP Paribas Securities Services
Om Holding AS
Directmarketing Invest AS
Dingja Invest AS
The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV
Fondsavanse AS
Ubs AG
Morgan Stanley & Co. Int. Plc.
Pershing LLC
Tanja AS
Sniptind Invest AS
Torstein Ingvald Tvenge
Bma Invest AS
Norda ASA
Svejk Invest AS
Total 20 largest shareholders
Other shareholders
Total

Number
of shares

Ownership
in %

34,157 285
13,000 000
6,786 183
4,912 668
4,706 334
4,368 153
3,436 494
3,415 043
3,369 961
3,295 894
3,268 792
3,029 319
2,979 285
2,939 674
2,547 884
2,519 699
2,500 000
2,461 052
2,431 949
2,022 345
108,148 014
64,564 123
172,712 137

19.8%
7.5%
3.9%
2.8%
2.7%
2.5%
2.0%
2.0%
2.0%
1.9%
1.9%
1.8%
1.7%
1.7%
1.5%
1.5%
1.4%
1.4%
1.4%
1.2%
62.6%
37.4%
100.0%

Shareholder
structure

NOM

NOM

NOM
NOM
NOM
NOM

Country

NOR
USA
NOR
NOR
NOR
LUX
NOR
NOR
NOR
GBR
NOR
GBR
GBR
USA
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
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Note 7 Specification of debt
NOK million

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

39.0

11.3

5.3
105.2
149.5

5.9
82.8
100.0

64.9

64.7

64.9

64.7

-

399.8

-

399.8

Reconciliation of subordinated loans
Opening balance
Amortisation of transaction costs/change NIBOR interest rate recognised against "interest expenses"
Closing balance

64.7
0.1
64.9

64.6
0.1
64.7

Reconciliation of senior unsecured bond
Opening balance
Paid unsecured bond
Amortisation of transaction costs/change NIBOR interest rate recognised against "interest expenses"
Closing balance
Utgående balanse

399.8
400.0
0.3
-

399.3
0.5
399.8

The Bank's other debt consist of
Payables to suppliers
Remaining other debt:
Social secutity tax
Other liablilities
Total other debt
The Bank's subordinated loans consist of
"Subordinated loans (ISIN NO0010757768)
3 months NIBOR + 5,0% interest margin"
Total subordinated loans
The Bank's senior unsecured bond consist of
"Senior unsecured bond (ISIN NO0010800972)
3 months NIBOR + 1,55% interest margin"
Total senior unsecured bond

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Bank had no unused overdraft facilities or other drawing rights. The Bank’s senior
unsecured bond was in its entirety paid back in 2019 in accordance with the term in the bond agreement. The Bank’s subordinated loan
has a maturity date of 23 February 2026.

All deposits from the Bank’s customers come from private individuals. The Bank’s average (weighted) offered interest rate in 2019 was

1.96% (1.92% for 2018) for Norwegian deposit customers and 0.59% for German deposit customers (0.55% for 2018). The calculation
is based on actual interest costs and average deposit balances per month. Interest rates for deposits and loans are variable. As at 31

December 2019, the Bank did not offer fixed-interest deposits to Norwegian customers, but offered one and year fixed rates to German

deposit customers. Deposits from German customers was NOK 2,540.4 million as at 31 December 2019 (6.3 million as at 31 December
2018).
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Note 8 Items not recognised in the balance sheet
There was no known information about significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 31 December 2019 (or 31 December
2018) other than those referred to in the annual reports. Unused limits and credit facilities as at 31 December 2019 amounted to NOK
2,933.7 million (NOK 2,611.9 million as at 31 December 2018). Approved and offered loans not yet paid out amounted to NOK 265.6
million as at 31 December 2019 (NOK 403.7 million as at 31 December 2018).

Note 9 Capital adequacy
TOTAL CAPITAL
NOK million

Share capital
Share premium
Other equity
Phase-in effects of IFRS 9
Deductions:
Deferred tax asset, other intangible assets and other deductions
Common equity Tier 1 including phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Common equity Tier 1 excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Tier 1 capital
Core capital including phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Core capital excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Supplemental capital
Total capital including phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Total capital excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

184.1
786.7
834.2
194.3

172.7
771.9
630.6
144.5

-145.4
1,853.9
1,659.6
44.6
1,898.4
1,704.1
64.9
1,963.3
1,769.0

-135.9
1,583.8
1,439.3
44.6
1,628.3
1,483.8
64.7
1,693.1
1,548.5
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The calculation basis are allocated in the following:
CREDIT RISK AND OPERATIONAL RISK
NOK million

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

122.9
6,745.2
9.1
36.2
1,822.6
8,735.9
8,560.6

246.5
6,302.4
30.2
12.1
1,331.8
7,922.8
7,595.7

Common equity tier 1 including phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Core capital including phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Total capital including phase-in impact of IFRS 9

21.2%
21.7%
22.5%

20.0%
20.6%
21.4%

Common equity tier 1 excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Core capital excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Total capital excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9

19.4%
19.9%
20.7%

18.9%
19.5%
20.4%

Credit risk

Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers/IFRS 9 phase-in effects
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Operational risk
Total calculation basis including phase-in impact of IFRS 9
Total calculation basis excluding phase-in impact of IFRS 9

The Bank had a liquidity capital ratio (LCR) of 716% as at 31 December 2019 (219% as at 31 December 2018) and a net stable funding ratio (NSFR) of 177% as at 31 December 2019 (170% as at 31 December 2018). The Bank’s leverage ratio was 17.3% as at 31

December 2019 (11.7% as at 31 December 2018). The Bank’s internal objective is to have an LCR and NSFR of respectively minimum
125% and 115%.

The Bank’s regulatory Pillar 1 minimum for capital adequacy is 18.3% for common equity tier 1, 19.8% for core capital and 21.8% for

total capital. Included in these capital requirements is a Pillar 2 requirement of 6.5% and a counter cyclic requirement of 1.8%. The Bank’s
regulatory minimum for leverage ratio equals 5.0%.

Komplett Bank has a capital adequacy objective of 22.8%, including a common equity tier 1 adequacy of 19.3% to provide leverage for

the Bank’s growth strategy. In 2019, the Bank received a report by the FSA in conjunction with their review of the Bank’s risks and capital
needs (SREP), determining the Pillar 2 requirement to 6.5%.
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Note 10 Specification of interest and commission and fees
INTEREST INCOME
NOK million

Interest income from loans to customers
Interest from certificates and bonds
Interest income from loans and deposits with credit institutions
Total interest income

2019

2018

1,260.7
1.4
20.3
1,282.5

1,086.6
4.6
9.2
1,100.4

2019

2018

140.2
9.9
17.1
167.2

115.7
14.9
10.7
141.3

2019

2018

58.4
114.0
172.4

58.3
89.9
148.2

2019

2018

75.2
38.6
113.8

50.8
23.4
74.1

INTEREST EXPENSES
NOK million

Interest expense from deposit from customers
Interest expense from subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond
Other interest expenses
Total interest expenses

INCOME COMMISSIONS AND FEES
NOK million

Insurance services
Fees
Total income commisions and fees

EXPENSES COMMISSIONS AND FEES
NOK million

Agent provision
Other expenses commissions and fees
Total expenses commissions and fees

SPESIFICATION OF INTEREST INCOME THAT ARE CALCULATED USING THE EFFECTIVE INTEREST METHOD
NOK million

Interest income from loans to customers
Interest income from loans and deposits with credit institutions
Total interest income calculated using the effective interest method

2019

2018

1,260.7
1.4
1,262.1

1,086.6
9.2
1,095.9
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Note 11 Payments to employees and remuneration to trustees
SALARIES AND OTHER PERSONELL EXPENSES
NOK million

Salaries
Social security tax
Pension premiums
Social benefits
Other wage costs 1)
Total
1)

2019

2018

103.0
16.2
5.7
7.2
3.3
135.4

74.4
9.8
4.1
4.5
16.3
109.1

Applies to costs of hired manpower.

No collateral was provided to any of the Bank’s employees or any of their related parties in 2019. Some employees have credit card debts
to and deposits in the Bank as at 31 December 2019. All employees and their related parties that have the Bank’s credit card and deposit
products have these with the ordinary terms and conditions.

All permanent employees, a total of 140 people as at 31 December 2019, are covered by the Bank’s pension plan. The plan is a

defined-contribution plan and is covered by Storebrand. The Bank is obliged to have an occupational pension plan in accordance with
the Compulsory Occupational Pension Plan Act. The plan satisfies the requirements in the act.
Please refer to Note 14 for information on variable remuneration.
FEES PAID TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
NOK million

Stig Eide Sivertsen (Chairperson) 1)
Bodil Palma Hollingsæter (Deputy Chairperson)
Casper Wakefield (Board Member) 2)
Live Bertha Haukvik (Board Member) 3)
Jan Ole Stangeland (Board Member)
Harald Hjorthen (Board Member) 4)
Morten Fredrik Petterøe (Employee Representative)
Hilde Berge Aasen (Employee Representative)
Pål Røland (Employee Representative)
Silje Christoffersen (Employee Representative)
Total fees paid to the Board of Directors
1)
2)
3)
4)

2019

2018

0.5
0.4
0.1
0.4
0.4
0.2
0.1
0.1
0.0
0.0
2.2

0.2
0.2
0.2
0.3
0.2
1.1

2019

2018

1.5
1.2
0.0
2.7

0.9
1.3
0.0
2.2

New Chairperson after extraordinary general meeting 2019
Board Member until extraordinary general meeting 2019
Chairperson until extraordinary general meeting 2019
New Board Member from 2019

AUDITOR FEES (INCL. VAT)
NOK million

Statutory auditing
Other certification services
Other services
Total
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Information about the company’s remuneration plan

The Regulation on Remuneration Plans in Financial Institutions etc., states that the company shall publish information regarding the main
principles for establishing remuneration, criteria for establishing any variable remuneration and quantitative information about remuner-

ation to senior employees, to employees with duties of considerable importance for the company’s exposure to risk, to employees with
control duties and staff representatives with equivalent remuneration. The information below in this note, including the Board’s declara-

tion on the establishment of salaries and other remuneration constitutes this kind of information. The declaration and guidelines apply in
relation to all employees, including the CEO and other members of the management.

WAGES AND REMUNERATIONS TO KEY PERSONELL 2019
Fixed salary
NOK million

Other remunerations

Salary

Value of share
options 1)

Variable
salary 2)

Other
remuneration

Pension

Total

2.8
1.2
1.7
1.4

0.3
0.3
-

1.4
0.2
0.6
0.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.1
0.1
0.1
0.1

4.6
1.8
2.4
2.0

1.7

0.2

0.8

0.0

0.1

2.8

1.8
1.6
1.3
1.0
14.4

0.3
0.1
1.1

0.6
0.5
0.5
0.2
5.3

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.1

0.1
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.8

2.5
2.2
2.2
1.4
21.8

Salary

Value of share
options 1)

Variable
salary 2)

Other
remuneration

Pension

Total

2.6

-

0.5

0.0

0.1

3.2

1.9

-

0.3

0.0

0.1

2.3

1.7
1.5

-

0.3
0.3

0.0
0.0

0.1
0.1

2.1
1.9

1.6

0.2

0.3

0.0

0.1

2.2

1.7

-

0.3

0.0

0.1

2.1

1.3

-

0.0

0.0

0.1

1.4

1.5

-

0.2

0.0

0.1

1.8

1.5
1.1
0.8
17.3

0.2

0.2
0.2
0.3
2.9

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.1

0.1
0.1
0.1
1.0

1.8
1.4
1.2
21.4

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Director Credit Risk & Collections
Chief Operations Officer
Chief Marketing Officer/
Chief Information Officer
Director Legal & HR
Director Credit Cards
Director Consumer loans & POS
Chief Compliance and Risk Officer
Total

WAGES AND REMUNERATIONS TO KEY PERSONELL 2018
Fixed salary
NOK million

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer/Chief Strategy
Officer
Chief Credit Risk Officer
Chief Operations Officer
Chief Marketing Officer/
Chief Information Officer
Director Risk Control, Compliance and
Vendor Management
Director Credit Cards
Director Loans Sweden and Finland/
Director for Collection
Director POS
Director HR and Project Office
Chief Financial Officer resigned in 2018
Total
1)
2)

Other remunerations

The stated value is based on market value at the grant date.

The stated value relates to the value of granted bonus options vested based on the previous year’s work efforts. Only some of the value stated in this note applies to
vested options. See Note 14 for further details.

Reference is made to note 14 related to variable remuneration and the share option programme for employees which also
includes senior employees.
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The Board will present guidelines for compensation for agreement

The fixed salary shall be assessed at least annually and, among

Public Limited Liability Companies Act:

general and the financial industry in particular.

at the AGM in accordance with paragraph 6-16a of the Norwegian

other things, established based on salary trends in society in

The Board’s declaration on the determination of salaries

The company’s variable remuneration plans shall have the pur-

The company’s collective remuneration plans shall promote

creation of long-term values and sensible risk-taking. The Board

and other remuneration to senior employees

behaviour based on the desired culture in relation to performance
and result orientation. The collective remuneration shall help the

company to attract and retain employees with the desired profile
with regards to personal qualities, competence and experience.

The remuneration plan shall contribute to promoting and providing
incentives for good management and control of the company’s

risks, prevent the taking of risks that are too high and contribute to

pose of rewarding behaviour and influencing culture to ensure the
carries out an annual assessment of the maximum level of variable
remuneration. In addition, one-off remuneration may be used if
such is deemed necessary to attract or retain employees.

There is an agreement with the Chief Executive Officer to pay 12
months in case of termination of employment.

avoiding conflicts of interest.

All employees are covered by a defined-contribution pension

A. Guidelines for the coming accounting year

Plan’s basic amount (G) and 12% of salary from 7-12 G. No other

The company’s remuneration plans are adapted within the provi-

sions that are always in accordance with Chapter 15 of the act on

The Financial Institutions and Financial Groups, including regulations
and other applicable regulations for bank remuneration plans.

The Board establishes the remuneration for the CEO. The CEO

establishes the remuneration for other members of the manage-

ment in consultation with the Chairperson. The respective depart-

plan with 6% of salary from 1-7 times the National Insurance
pension plans have been agreed for any employee.

B. Binding guidelines for remuneration in the form of shares,
subscription rights, options etc. for the coming year

Agreements that up to 33% of fixed salary will be honoured in the

form of shares or share-based instruments in return for an equivalent

reduction being made in the ordinary salary payment may be entered.

ment Director establishes remuneration for other employees in

Half of the variable salaries for senior employees shall be provided

that are not significant in relation to fixed salary are established for

conditional) so that 1/36 are released monthly over a three-year

consultation with the CEO, CFO and HR Director. Benefits in kind
all employees by the CEO.

Remuneration for all employees consists of fixed salary, benefits
in kind, variable remuneration and pension and insurance plans.

Benefits in kind may also be provided in line with general practice

in the form of share options with a lock-in period (deferred and

period. On a yearly basis potential cancelling of non-vested variable

remuneration to senior employees are reviewed, with a possibility to

be reduced if earnings in the company or subsequent results indicate
this or special circumstances to the relevant employee are present.

and to promote physical activity among employees.

One-off remuneration may be share-option-based.

In the case of senior employees and key personnel, remuneration is

Share options granted under these plans shall be at the full market

ing of the variable component of the remuneration is based on results

for these plans. The exercise period shall be 5 years, yet so that

established based on a holistic assessment, where the main weightachieved, asset-liability management (including financial strength
and liquidity management), the implementation of the company’s

strategic plan and compliance with accepted limits for risk tolerance.
In the assessment, general achievement of targets, developments

value. The Board establishes more detailed guidelines and criteria
the exercise period for granted options can be expanded with up
to 3 years assuming that a simultaneous adjustments in strike

price are adjusted to reflect the market value of the compensation.

over time and the company’s long-term interests shall be taken in to

C. Description of the management salary policy

and qualitative conditions. The specific conditions emphasised shall

The company has followed the guidelines that were discussed

account. The overall assessment shall be based on both quantitative
be adapted to the individual’s function and area of responsibility. The

assessment shall be based on a combination of an assessment of the

in the previous accounting year
at the AGM in 2019.

person in question, the business unit in question and the company as

D. Report on the effects on the company and

connected with capital and liquidity shall be taken into consideration.

remuneration over and above fixed salary

a whole. When measuring results, the risk to the company and costs
The basis for variable remuneration linked to the company’s results
shall be a period of at least two years for employees.

shareholders of new or changed agreements on
The Board believes the agreements on remuneration that have been
continued, entered into or amended in 2019 have contributed to

ensuring the company has a supply of employees with the desired profile and that the agreements benefit the company and shareholders.
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SHARES OWNED 1) BY THE MANAGEMENT OR BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS AT 31.12.2019
Name

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Director Credit Risk & Collections
Chief Operations Officer
Chief Marketing Officer/ Chief Information Officer
Director Legal & HR
Director Credit Cards
Director Consumer loans & POS
Chief Compliance and Risk Officer
Board of Directors
Related parties to all mentioned above
Total

Number of shares

Ownership in %

560,000
117,661
50,008
32,000
1,549,583
1,959,961
640,502
107,574
1,223
345,932
5,364,444

0.30%
0.06%
0.03%
0.02%
0.84%
1.06%
0.35%
0.06%
0.00%
0.19%
0.00%
2.91%

Jan Olov Haglund
Henning Fagerbakke
Annika Johanna Ramstedt
Christina Heskestad Pedersen
Steffen Ryengen
Wilhelm Bruun Thomassen
Eirik Holtedahl
Enok Johan Söderberg Hanssen
Eivind Bagås
-

SHARES OWNED 1) BY THE MANAGEMENT OR BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS AT 31.12.2018
Name

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer/Chief Strategy Officer
Chief Credit Risk Officer
Chief Operations Officer
Chief Marketing Officer/Chief Information Officer
Director Risk Control,
Compliance and Vendor Management
Director Credit Cards
Director Loans Sweden and Finland/
Director for Collection
Director POS
Board of Directors
Related parties to all mentioned above
Total
1)

Number of shares

Ownership in %

Raimond Pettersen
Jan Olov Haglund
Kent Erik Tommy Österlund
Niels Harald Ursin-Holm
Steffen Ryengen

6,786,183
560,000
2,171,778
1,045,000
911,250

3.93%
0.32%
1.26%
0.61%
0.53%

Wilhelm Bruun Thomassen

3,369,961

1.95%

640,502

0.37%

50,008

0.03%

99,084
570,699
16,204,465

0.06%
0.33%
0.00%
9.38%

Eirik Holtedahl
Annika Johanna Ramstedt
Enok Johan Söderberg Hanssen
-

Either owned directly or through ownership of a legal company, including shares owned indirectly through companies where the person in questions controls the
majority of shares.

The decrease in the number of shares owned by management and the Board members from 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2019
is mainly due to a change in the composition of the management and the Board of Directors.
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Note 12 Specification of costs
SPECIFICATION OF GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
NOK million

Direct marketing expenses
IT-expenses
Other general administrative expenses
Total general administrative expenses

2019

2018

84.0
33.5
54.9
172.4

107.2
29.2
33.9
170.4

2019

2018

1.1
27.2
47.1
3.7
79.0

3.0
1.0
9.4
14.6
3.0
31.0

2019

2018

279.6
6.3
21.0
306.8
25%
76.7

443.1
-0.7
5.7
448.1
25%
112.0

SPECIFICATION OF OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Rental expenses
Insurance
Other consultants
Other costs
External audit and related services
Total other operating expenses

Note 13 Tax
TAX EXPENSE
NOK million

Profit before tax
Effect of temporary differences not affecting tax payable
Permanent differences
Basis for tax expense
Tax rate
Tax expense
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CALCULATIONS OF TAXABLE INCOME
NOK million

2019

2018

279.6
21.0
-3.8
-148.8
147.9
25%
37.0

443.1
5.7
-3.7
-2.0
443.1
25%
110.8

2019

2018

-0.9
0.6
-0.4
-0.6

-0.1
-157.8
-157.9

-8.5
-8.5
-9.1

-157.9

Change in differences which affect tax payable

148.8

-155.9

Deferred tax of assets not affecting tax payable
Securities and bonds measured at fair value
Basis for deferred tax assets
Tax rate
Deferred tax assets

2019
6.0
-3.1
25%
0.8

2018
-0.2
-158.1
25%
39.5

Profit before tax
Permanent differences recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
Permanent differences recognised in equity
Change in temporary differences which affect tax payable
Basis for tax payable
Tax rate
Tax payable

DEFERRED TAX OF ASSETS / LIABILITIES
NOK million

Deferred tax of assets which affect tax payable
Fixed assets
Implementation effect of IFRS 9 impairments loans to customers
Rental agreement
Other assets
Deferred tax of assets which affect tax payable
Deferred tax of liabilities which affect tax payable
Provisions
Deferred tax of liabilities which affect tax payable
Net differences which affect tax payable

EXPLANATION WHY THE TAX EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR DOES NOT AMOUNT TO 25% OF PROFIT BEFORE TAX
NOK million

Profit before tax
25% of profit before tax
25% of permanent differences recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
25% effect of temporary differences not affecting tax payable
Calculated tax expense

2019

2018

279.6
69.9
5.2
1.6
76.7

443.1
110.8
1.4
-0.1
112.0
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Note 14 Share option programme
The Bank has in 2019 and previous periods established a share option programme for all employees. The plan applies to both employee’s fixed and any variable salary.

The option value for the granted options is established based on the full market value calculated using observed trading prices at the

grant date and Black & Scholes’s option pricing model. Risk-free interest, using 5-year government bonds, is used as a prerequisite in the
calculation. The fixed price for exercising the positions is NOK 1 for all outstanding options. In the case of options granted in 2015 and
later, there is also a variable price for exercising the positions, which is equivalent to the social security tax at the date of exercise. The
value of vested options is recognised in other paid-in equity.

The Bank has a bonus programme for all employees assessed as satisfying the requirements for variable remuneration plans. The company’s variable salaries related to share options releases the options in accordance with Chapter 15 of the Act on financial institutions
and financial groups, with regulations and other applicable regulations for bank remuneration plans.
OVERVIEW OF GRANTED, EXERCISED AND OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

Outstanding options
Outstanding options beginning of period
Adjustment of incoming balance
+ Granted options
- Exercised options
- Lost options
- Expired options
Outstanding options end of period

2019

2018

5,021 801
630,969
-1,507 591
4,145 179

6,179 580
-259,045
432,782
-1,331 516
5,021 801
Number of options

Expiration date options
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total

1,873 175
842,452
522,282
304,287
602,983
4,145 179

In 2019, 1,507,591 options were exercised (1,331.516 options in 2018). The weighted average share price at the time when exercised in
2019 is NOK 9.88 (15.07 NOK in 2018). The Board are eligible to extend the exercise period for previous granted options in accordance

with note 11 and the Board’s declaration on the determination of salaries and other remuneration for members of the management. It is
expected that all options will be exercised.

Fair value of the options are estimated by using the Black & Scholes option pricing model. Average fair value of granted options in 2019 is
NOK 7.0 million (4.1 million in 2018).

No share options connected to the variable remuneration as of today is granted based on employee performance in 2019. In accordance
with the Bank’s guidelines on variable remuneration such grant will potentially first happen later in 2020, subsequently to the annual

report for 2019 being set by the general meeting. The cost for variable remuneration for 2019 equals NOK 16.8 million (NOK 14.4 million
for 2018). The exact number of potentially granted options is dependent on the market value at the time of the grant and other factors
described in this note.
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Assumptions used in the calculation:
Share price at the time of the grant

The share price used equals the listed price at Oslo Børs at the time of the grant.
Volatility

Historical volatility is used as an indication of future volatility. Expected volatility is therefore using historic volatility equaling a volatility of
35% in 2019 and 46% in 2018.
Expiration of the option

The option’s expected time until expiration is 5 years.
Risk-free rate

Risk free rate used in the calculation of the options equals the interest rate on 5 year government bonds equaling 1.28% for 2019 and
1.43% for 2018.

Note 15 Liquidity and interest rate risk
The Board of Directors has established guidelines that sets the limit for maximum interest rate risk. Monitoring and reporting of liquidity
and interest rate risk happens continuously according to provided instructions.
Liquidity risk

Different maturity for the Bank’s assets and liabilities have the potential to result in a liquidity risk for the Bank. Below is an overview of
different time interval as to when the Bank’s assets and liabilities have maturity.
LIQUIDITY RISK AS AT 31.12.2019
NOK million

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets without specified
maturity term
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Subordinated loans
Other debt
Total liabilities

< 3 months

3 months
< 1 year

1 year
< 5 years

5 year
< 10 years

Without
any term

Total

7.2
250.2

18.8
100.1

89.5
30.8

0.4
89.1

614.7
8,394.3
840.8

614.7
8,510.2
1,311.0

-

-

-

-

180.2

180.2

257.4

118.9

120.2

89.5

10,030.0

10,616.1

39.0
39.0

663.5
4.5
147.5
815.5

422.7
89.6
512.3

7,450.3
7,450.3

-

8,536.5
94.0
186.5
8,817.0

Loans to customers, certificates and bonds, fixed rate deposits from and debt to customers and subordinated loans includes expected
interests in the liquidity overview above.
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LIQUIDITY RISK AS AT 31.12.2018
NOK million

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit
institutions
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets without specified
maturity term
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Senior unsecured bond
Subordinated loans
Other debt
Total liabilities

< 3 months

3 months
< 1 year

1 year
< 5 years

5 year
< 10 years

Without
any term

Total

-

-

-

-

1,232.4

1,232.4

136.2

73.5

235.5

-

7,844.3
-

7,844.3
445.3

-

-

-

-

147.6

147.6

136.2

73.5

235.5

-

9,224.2

9,669.5

2.7
1.0
11.3
14.9

404.9
3.0
199.5
607.5

16.2
16.2

73.9
73.9

7,365.6
7,365.6

7,365.6
407.6
94.1
210.8
8,078.1

Certificates and bonds, senior unsecured bons and subordinated loans includes expected interests in the liquidity overview above.
The Bank had no financial instruments that have not been recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019 (none as at 31

December 2018). All items are in Norwegian kroner (NOK). See also the Report from the Board of Directors for further information and a
discussion of the Bank’s liquidity risk.
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Interest rate risk

Different fixed-rate periods for assets and liabilities will lead to an interest rate risk for the Bank. A summary of the remaining period for
agreed/probable interest rate adjustments for assets and liabilities is provided below:
INTEREST RATE RISK AS AT 31.12.2019
0 month
< 3 months

Without any
interest term

Total

614.7
8,495.8
1,329.8
10,440.2

180.2
180.2

614.7
8,495.8
1,329.8
180.2
10,620.4

64.9
8,519.5
8,584.4

186.5
186.5

64.9
8,519.5
186.5
8,770.9

0 month
< 3 months

Without any
interest term

Total

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets without specified maturity term
Total assets

1,232.4
7,844.3
436.4
9,513.1

147.6
147.6

1,232.4
7,844.3
436.4
147.6
9,660.7

Liabilities
Subordinated loans
Senior unsecured bond
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt, not interest-bearing
Total liabilities

64.7
399.8
7,365.6
7,830.1

210.8
210.8

64.7
399.8
7,365.6
210.8
8,040.9

NOK million

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets without specified maturity term
Total assets
Liabilities
Subordinated loans
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt, not interest-bearing
Total liabilities

INTEREST RATE RISK AS AT 31.12.2018
NOK million
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INTEREST RATE RISK - SENSITIVITY OF 1% POINT CHANGE IN THE YIELD CURVE
NOK million

Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets without specified maturity term
Total assets
Deposits from and debt to customers
Subordinated loans
Other debt, not interest-bearing
Total liabilities
Total interest rate risk

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

0.2
14.2
2.8
17.2

0.3
13.1
0.5
14.0

-14.2
-0.2
-14.4

-12.3
-0.2
-12.4

2.8

1.5

Interest rate risk is calculated as the cash flow effect of changing interest rate with 1% point, adjusted for the assets/liabilities interest durations.
CURRENCY RISK - SENSITIVITY OF CHANGING EXCHANGE RATES END OF THE YEAR
NOK million

Effect in profit or loss of changing 1%
Effect in profit or loss of changing 2%
Effect in profit or loss of changing 5%

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

1.1
2.1
5.3

0.2
0.4
0.9
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Note 16 Earnings per share and key figures
EARNINGS PER SHARE
2019

2018

Number of shares 01.01.
Number of issued shares 18.03.2019
Number of issued shares 11.04.2019
Number of issued shares 26.06.2019
Number of issued shares 11.10.2019
Number of issued shares 11.12.2019
Number of issued shares 28.05.2018
Number of issued shares 13.08.2018
Number of issued shares 18.10.2018
Number of issued shares 20.12.2018
Number of shares 31.12.

172,712,137
9,900,000
75,429
81,300
1,078,383
272,479
184,119,728

171,380,621
65,704
17,531
144,493
1,103,788
172,712,137

Average number of shares

180,874,319

171,488,967

Profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Paid interest on Tier 1 capital in amount NOK (after tax)
Adjusted profit after tax (amount in NOK)

202,873,511
-2,886,441
199,987,070

331,077,533
-2,746,931
328,330,602

Earnings per share
Adjusted profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Average number of shares
Earnings per share based on average number of shares in the period (NOK)

199,987,070
180,874,319
1.11

328,330,602
171,488,967
1.91

Adjusted profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Number of shares, outstanding share options and warrants end of period
Earnings per share based on number of shares, share options and warrants end of period (NOK)

199,987,070
188,264,907
1.06

328,330,602
187,633,938
1.75

The profit after tax for 2019 represented 2.0% (4.1% for 2018) of average total assets throughout the year. The average total assets are
calculated based on quarterly figures.
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Note 17 Related parties and other information
There is a cooperation agreement between Komplett AS and Komplett Bank ASA. The agreement concerns IP rights, marketing cooperation and other services. The agreement was renewed in 2017 and will have a duration of 5 years. The agreement will then be renewed

automatically for a year at a time until the agreement is terminated by one of the parties. Komplett Bank recognised a cost of NOK 11.9

million (NOK 10.0 million in 2018) relating to this agreement in 2019. Balances (receivables (+)/liabilities (-)) as at 31 December 2019 with
Komplett AS totalled NOK -7.5 million (NOK 2.7 million in 2018).

An agreement has also been entered into on product cooperation relating to the Bank’s credit card and associated benefits programme.
The agreement was in 2018 prolonged for 5 additional years.

An agreement has been entered into with Komplett AS on the development of a solution for the integration of the Bank’s products in the

Komplett Group’s POS solutions. The Bank’s financing solution related to POS Finance as of 31 December 2018 was fully integrated into
the trading platforms komplett.no and komplett.se.

Note 18 Risk management
General
The Board has established various policies for management and control of key risks. The policies, which are updated regularly, describe
both quantitative risk limits and relevant qualitative guidelines.
The Board receives compliance and risk control reports relating to the established policies, from the administration regularly and as required.
The Bank is exposed to different types of business risk. Operational risk and credit risk are two key risks discussed in greater detail below.

Operational risk
The Bank’s strategy for operational risk is defined in the Bank’s policy for operational risk. According to the Bank’s general principles, there
shall be procedures for identifying and reporting operational risk. Operational risk shall be measured and managed based on systematic
assessments of operational risk factors and operational risk assessments. This shall be included as an integral part of the decision-making
process in the Bank. The measurement methods applied shall fulfil the measurement methods for main categories of risk.
Credit risk
The Bank’s general strategy for credit risk is defined in the Bank’s credit policy. The general principles stipulate, among other things, the following:
· The Bank’s loans shall only be to private individuals.
· The Bank’s loans shall be well diversified.

· All customers shall be subject to a credit assessment.

· In addition to credit score rules, the customer must also be accepted in accordance with the Bank’s policy rules and the Bank’s
requirements for ability and willingness to pay.
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Note 19 Classification of financial instruments

NOK million

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Other receivables
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Total financial assets

Financial instruments (held for trading)
at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instruments
measured at amortised cost

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

1,329.8
1,329.8

436.4
436.4

614.7
18.8
8,495.8
9,129.2

1,232.4
10.4
7,844.3
9,087.0

-

-

8,519.5
149.5
64.9
8,733.9

7,365.6
100.0
64.7
399.8
7,930.1

Liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt
Subordinated loans
Senior unsecured bond
Total financial liabilities

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities assessed at amortised cost
Loans and deposits with credit institutions

Fair value is estimated as corresponding to amortised cost.
Other receivables

Fair value is estimated as corresponding to amortised cost.
Loans to customers

Loans to customers are highly exposed to market competition so that any additional values in the loan balance will not be able to be

maintained over time. At the same time, an impairment is recognised for this accounting item if observable events occur that indicate

a fall in value. The impairments are based on an assessment of the future cash flow, discounted by the effective rate of interest. The fair
value is therefore essentially regarded as corresponding to amortised cost.
Deposits from and debt to customers

Fair value is estimated as corresponding to amortised cost.
Other debt

Fair value is estimated as corresponding to amortised cost.
Subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond

The Bank’s subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond is traded in a market place, but the sale of the instrument takes

place relatively infrequently. As compensation for the observable prices, it is assessed that the amortised cost can be used
as an approximation of the fair value.
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NOK million

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Other receivables
Loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt
Subordinated loans
Senior unsecured bond
Total financial liabilities

Credit quality 31.12.2019

Credit quality 31.12.2018

Low

Medium

High

Low

Medium

High

791.3
791.3

7,704.5
7,704.5

614.7
18.8
1,329.8
1,963.3

575.8
575.8

7,268.6
7,268.6

1,232.4
10.4
436.4
1,679.1

-

-

8,519.5
149.5
64.9
8,733.9

-

-

7,365.6
100.0
64.7
399.8
7,930.1

Credit quality is defined as the financial instrument’s ability to deliver agreed cash flows. A deterioration in the quality of credit means that
one or more events are taking place that have an undesired effect on the expected future cash flows for the financial instrument. The
credit quality is grouped in the following intervals of credit risk:
· Low credit quality: 100% risk of default

· Medium credit quality: 4.5-100% risk of default
· High credit quality: 0-4.5% risk of default

Note 20 Financial instruments assessed at fair value
Financial instruments at fair value are placed in the different levels below based on the quality of market data for the individual type of instrument.

Level 1: Valuation based on listed prices in an active market
Financial instruments valued using listed prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities are placed in level 1. This category
includes government bonds and investments in bonds with pre-emption rights traded in active markets.
Level 2 Valuation based on observable market data
Financial instruments valued using information where prices are directly or indirectly observable for the assets or liabilities are placed in level 2.
Level 3 Valuation based on non-observable market data
If a valuation cannot be established in levels 1 or 2, valuation methods are used that are based on non-observable market data.

NOK million

Assets
Certificates and bonds
Total financial instruments measured at fair
value

Level 1

31.12.2019

Level 2

Level 3

Level 1

489.0

840.8

-

489.0

840.8

-

31.12.2018

Level 2

Level 3

436.4

-

-

436.4

-

-
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Note 21 Events after the reporting period
The Board is not aware of events after the balance sheet date that are of material importance to the annual financial statements.

Note 22 Alternative performance measures
Alternative performance measures are often used by investors, financial analysts and others for decision-making purposes by contributing to a deeper insight into the operational and financial aspects of a company. Alternative performance measures can provide reinforcing information on the company’s historical and present situation, and the company’s future prospects.

The Bank has defined “return on equity” (ROE), cost percentage and loss ratio as the company’s alternative performance measures

and these are presented in the Report from the Board of Directors. All the alternative performance measures refer to events that have
occurred and are recognised in the Bank’s annual financial statements.

Return on equity (ROE) is defined as the annual profit/average quarterly equity expressed as a percentage. This is one of the company’s
most important target figures and provides information on the Bank’s ability to generate a surplus from the shareholders’ investments.

The cost percentage is defined as the total operating expenses, excluding marketing costs and losses on loans/net interest income and
net commissions and fees. The target figure is presented to give investors, financial analysts and others an insight into how the costs

correlate to revenues and to give users of the financial reporting information on developments in the Bank’s operational effectiveness.
Loss ratio is defined as losses on loans/average yearly net loans in percent. Losses on loans is among the most significant elements in

the profit and loss statement. The development in loss ratio is an important key measure amongst investors, financial analytics and other
to assess the be able to assess the underlying credit risk in the Bank’s loans to customers.

Adjusted return on equity is defined as adjusted profit after tax/average yearly adjusted equity net of tier 1 capital. The adjusted

one-offs relates to losses on loans and AML administrative fee and the number is presented as a percentage. Losses on loans is among
the most significant elements in the profit and loss statement. This is one of the company’s most important target figures and provides
information on the Bank’s ability to generate a surplus from the shareholders’ investments.

Adjusted loss ratio is defined as adjusted losses on loans/average yearly adjusted net loans in percent. Losses on loans is among the

most significant elements in the profit and loss statement. The development in loss ratio is an important key measure amongst investors,
financial analytics and other to assess the be able to assess the underlying credit risk in the Bank’s loans to customers.
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Reconciliation from alternative performance measures to financial reporting

In the tables below where marked N/A it is considered not relevant to calculate in order to explain the calculation of the alternative
performance measure.

RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE)
NOK million

Profit after tax
Total equity

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

2019

Average

N/A
1,575.2

N/A
1,805.0

202.9
N/A

N/A
1,690.1

Return on equity (ROE): 202.9 /1,690.1 = 12,0%
Profit after tax can be found in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period in the accounting item “profit after tax”.
It is referred to the Bank’s published annual report 2019 for an overview of the Bank’s yearly equity.

COST PERCENTAGE
NOK million

2019

Total operating expenses excluding losses on loans 1)
- Direct marketing expenses 1)
= Total operating expenses excluding losses on loans and direct marketing expenses		

441.7
-84.0
357.7

NOK million

2019

Net interest income 1)
+ Net commissions and fees 1)
= Net interest income and commissions and fees

1,115.3
58.6
1,173.8

Cost percentage = 357.7 /1,173.8 = 30.5%
1)

The basis for the calculation can be read directly from the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period 2019.

LOSS PERCENTAGE/LOSS RATIO
NOK million

Losses on loan
Loans to customer

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

2019

Average

N/A
7,844.3

N/A
8,495.8

454.3
N/A

N/A
8,170.0

Loss percentage: 454.3 /8,170.0 = 5.6%
Losses on loans can be found directly from the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period 2019.
Loans to customer can be found in the balance sheet.

103

104

Notes to the financial statements

ADJUSTED RETURN OF EQUITY
NOK million

31.12.2019

Profit after tax
+ One-off cost related to losses on loans, after tax
+ One-off cost related to anti-money laundering fee, after tax
= Adjusted profit after tax
NOK million

Equity
+ Adjusted one-off cost, after tax
+ Adjusted for one-off cost, anti-money laundering fee, after tax
= Adjusted equity

202.9
78.4
18.0
299.2
31.12.2018

31.12.2019

Average

1,575.2
N/A
N/A
1,575.2

1,805.0
78.4
18.0
1,901.4

1,690.1
N/A
N/A
1,738.3

ROE adjusted: 299.2/1,738.3 = 17.2%
Tier 1 capital to be subtracted from total equity in the balance sheet. Profit after tax can be found in the profit and loss.

ADJUSTED LOSS PERCENTAGE/LOSS RATIO
NOK million

31.12.2019

Losses on loan 1)
- One-off cost related to losses on loans, after tax
= Adjusted losses on loan
NOK million

Loans to customer
+ Adjusted loans to customer
= Adjusted loans to customer

Adjusted loss percentage: 349.8/8,222.3 = 4.3%
Losses on loans and loans to customers can be found in the annual report for 2019.

454.3
104.5
349.8
31.12.2018

31.12.2019

Average

7,844.3
N/A
7,844.3

8,495.8
104.5
8,600.3

8,170.0
N/A
8,222.3
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Note 23 Leasing agreements
The Bank has agreed to lease premises in Vollsveien 2A and 2B, 1366 Lysaker, as well as parking spaces related to the location. The

leasing agreement expires 31 December 2023. All the Bank’s right of use assets is classified as the same class of underlying assets. The

Bank has no short term leasing agreements or any leasing with low value that could have been classified as operational leasing according
to the accounting standard. Every leasing agreement that the Bank has entered into is classed as financial leasing agreement in line with
IFRS 16. All leasing agreements have prior to the introduction of IFRS 16 been classified as operational leasing agreements.

Office location
and parking spaces

NOK million

Accumulated historical cost financial leases as of 31.12.2018
Reclassification of leasing agreements from operational leasing to financial leasing (IFRS 16)
Accumulated historical cost as of 01.01.2019
Additions in the period
Disposals in the period
Accumulated historical cost as of 31.12.2019

17.2
17.2
2.2
19.4

Accumulated depreciations as of 01.01.2019
Depreciations 2019
Accumulated depreciations as of 31.12.2019
Book value as of 31.12.2019

3.8
3.8
15.6

Other information on leasing agreements

Interest expenses 2019
Total outgoing cash flows in 2019
Profit or loss from sale or leaseback transactions in 2019
Cost in 2019 related to variable leasing payments
Income from sublease

1.1
4.4
-

CASH FLOW ANALYSIS
NOK million

Outgoing cash flows for lesaing agreements
Total

2020

2021

2022

2023

Total

4.5
4.5

4.5
4.5

4.5
4.5

4.5
4.5

18.0
18.0
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To the General Meeting of Komplett Bank ASA

Independent auditor’s report
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Komplett Bank ASA, which comprise statement of
financial position as at the end of the period as at 31 December 2019, statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the period, comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity for
the period and statement of cash flows for the period for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Auditor’s report

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with law and
regulations and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company as
required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
The Company's business activities are mainly unchanged compared to last year. We have not identified
regulatory changes, transactions or other events that qualified as new Key audit matters for our audit.
The area The value of loans to customers has the same characteristics and risks as last year and has
therefore been an important area of focus in our audit also in 2019.
Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

The value of loans to customers
Loans to customers represents a
considerable part of the Company’s total
assets. The assessment of loan loss

We have evaluated and tested the design and
effectiveness of controls related to the loan loss provision
models. Testing of these controls, focusing on the risk

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Postboks 748 Sentrum, NO-0106 Oslo
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provisions is a model-based framework
which includes assessments with elements
of management judgment. The framework,
is complex, includes considerable volumes
of data and judgmental parameters, which
is the basis for a risk classification of loans.
The Company’s risk classification and
internal controls related to the
identification of loans with a heightened
credit risk is central for the valuation of
loans to customers. The framework and
the use of management judgment affect
the profit for the period and is important
for the compliance with the capital
adequacy regulations.
In line with IFRS 9, credit losses should be
based on more forward-looking
information, so that it reflects expected
losses.
The use of models to determine expected
credit losses entails judgement. In our
audit we have focused on:
•

•

Managements process for
identification of loans which
represent a significant increase in
credit risk.
Assumptions and judgments made
by management underlying the
parameters such as the probability
of default (PD) and loss given
default (LGD) and calculations
made.

•

Classification of the various loans
by risk.

•

How the loans are classified into
different stages.

The Company’s business is concentrated
on consumer loans, credit cards and point
of sales. Its internal models are designed to
take into account the specific
characteristics of each of its products and
enable the Company to estimate loan loss
impairment provisions for each of these
products.

classification of the loans, were performed to verify the
models’ input parameters and to test elements of the
capital adequacy regulations. We concluded that we
could base our audit on these controls.
We checked the accuracy of the data used in the
calculation of the loan loss provision by tracing data back
to registration in the systems on a sample basis. We also
tested whether the models made mathematically
accurate calculations.
To ensure that the setting of parameters related to the
probability of default were appropriate, we interviewed
management and challenged the relevance and the
methods applied.
The test results showed that management had used
appropriate assumptions in their evaluation of
parameters.
We obtained a detailed understanding of the processes
and tested the controls associated with:
•

the calculation and methodologies used;

•

whether the models used were in accordance
with the applicable framework and worked as
intended;

•

the reliability and accuracy of the data used for
calculation purposes in the models.

Our testing of internal controls did not indicate material
errors in the modelling or deviations from IFRS 9.
We tested whether the models classified loans in the
correct stage and whether the loans were subject to
significant increased credit risk by sample size testing of
loans against due date and payment history registered in
the Company’s system.
Our work also included tests of the Company’s financial
reporting systems relevant to financial reporting. The
Company uses external service organizations for support
with their IT systems. The audit team performed detailed
substantive testing of relevant reports and automated
controls for the external service organization and the
company itself. This allowed us to satisfy ourselves with
regard to the completeness and accuracy of data in the IT
and payment systems relevant to financial reporting.
Our testing included, among other things, whether the
key calculations made by the core systems were
(2)
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performed in line with expectations, including interest
rate calculations. Further, we performed tests on the
access controls to the IT systems and segregation of
duties where it was relevant for our audit.
See notes 1.1 and 2 for the description of the Company’s
models and processes to estimate loan-loss impairment
provisions in accordance with IFRS 9. We have read the
notes and found them to be adequate and to give a
balanced overview of the models, parameters and
judgmental assumptions used.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the
Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the preparation
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
(3)
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exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

(4)
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements and in the
statement on Corporate Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility Declaration, the going
concern assumption and the proposed allocation of profit for the year is consistent with the financial
statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Oslo, 3 March 2020
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Bjørn Rydland
State Authorised Public Accountant
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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